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PART

ITEM BUSINESS

Forward Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks

and uncertainties many of which are outside of our control We believe that these statements are within

the definition of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 You can often identify these

statements by the use of words such as may will expect intend anticipate believe plan
seek estimate continue and other similar words or variations on such words You should read our

forward-looking statements carefully because they discuss our future expectations make projections of

our future results of operations or financial condition or state other forward-looking information

Although forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K reflects our good faith

judgment such statements can only be based on facts and factors currently known by us Consequently

forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties and actual results and

outcomes may differ materially from the results and outcomes discussed in or anticipated by the forward-

looking statements The factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include but are not

limited to those discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K We undertake no obligation to

update any forward-looking statement

In this document unless the context indicates otherwise the terms Company and WidePoint as

well as the words we our ours and us refer to both WidePoint Corporation and its consolidated

subsidiaries The term registrant refers only to WidePoint Corporation Delaware corporation

Industry and market data used throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K were obtained through

surveys and studies conducted by third parties industry and general publications and internal company

research We have not independently verified any of the data from third-party sources nor have we

ascertained any underlying economic assumptions relied upon therein While we are not aware of any

misstatements regarding the industry data presented herein estimates involve risks and uncertainties and

are subject to change based on various factors

Company Overview

WidePoint Corporation is leading provider of federally certified secure identity management and

communications management solutions into the government and commercial sectors We offer core set

of enterprise-based solutions to enable organizations to deploy fully compliant solutions in accordance

with government requirements and the demands of the commercial marketplace Our on-demand

workforce mobility communications platforms are suite of advanced and federally certified proprietary

cloud-based software solutions These platforms are designed to enable secure identity management and

manage the complex processes and expenses associated with complex communication assets and services

of any enterprise Our advanced technology-based solutions can be customized to meet functional

requirements of any organization and are accessible on-demand through the cloud We believe that in

contrast many of our competitors solutions lack the necessary functionality security reliability and

depth of technical resources required to successfully administer an efficient and cost-effective solution



Industry Background and Trends

The identity assurance and communications management industries have increasingly converged over

the last 10 years as direct result of the proliferation of mobile computing and communications devices

Advances in communications technology significantly improved the storage speed and frequency of

communications and the complexity of these devices but also simultaneously increased the level of

technical expertise and resources required to protect an organizations valuable communications assets

and data These advances raise security concerns that extend well beyond the traditional enterprise

network infrastructure further exposing enterprises to business and regulatory and compliance risk

Examples include wireless workstations personal digital assistants mobile hot spots cloud-based video

conferencing converged voice and data for fixed and mobile communications virtual networking and

other blue tooth enabled devices The continued evolution and convergence of mobile computing and

communications devices will further change the way in which our government businesses and individuals

communicate conduct business collaborate and share information across their respective environments

companys communications infrastructure can be valuable asset to the organization in terms of the

data capture and potential business intelligence from the use of its proprietary information Enterprises

are faced with the growing complexity of securely and efficiently managing wide variety of mobile

computing and communications devices utilized by their mobile workforce The management and

oversight of these devices can be expensive and complicated due to the variety of service plans and

features offered significant differences in software technologies and infrastructure requirements for these

devices the growing complexity of communications bills and recent trends to permit employees to utilize

their personal devices to conduct company business

Many enterprises are managing this risk by procuring secure communications solutions offered by

cloud-based providers thus avoiding the additional infrastructure costs associated with an on premise

solution and the cost of hiring expertise in-house to manage the process Our solutions can provide

significant return on investment by enabling our clients to securely manage their mobile workforce and

efficiently manage the total life cycle of their valuable communications assets and services throughout the

world

Within the commercial marketplace we are witnessing the expansion of the use of our technologies to

address safe and secure managed mobility solutions We anticipate that with the adoption of cloud-based

services the need to adopt stronger and more secure and cost-effective solutions that both protect our

clients critical infrastructure and expand our clients workforce mobility initiatives

After decade of uninterrupted growth in federal spending we have witnessed mounting national

budget deficits and indebtedness that are resulting in constriction in the level of federal spending growth

that may cause contraction in current and future government expenditure levels Recognizing this new

reality in federal procurement we expect our federal customers to be motivated to minimize costs in this

challenging environment that may result in lower profit margins across the federal contracting industry in

whole However we believe that the federal governments spending will remain robust in key areas in

which WidePoint is well positioned including mobile telecommunications capabilities that serve to reduce

and optimize spending and in select cyber security initiatives that support trusted cloud-based secured

transmission solutions to both
protect our critical communications and infrastructure and to do so in

cost-justified manner



Reflecting these priorities we believe that WidePoints products and services are reasonably

positioned to weather most of the expected spending constraints that are now being experienced within the

federal marketplace

Our Solutions by Segment

During 2012 we initiated functional management reorganization that focused on repositioning key

management resources and strategic offerings into one segment rather than multiple segments In 2013
we will continue implementing this reorganization plan and will be managing and reporting our operations

as singular segment in the future We currently manage our solutions and measure returns based on

three business segments as follows Managed Mobility Solutions Cybersecurity Solutions and Consulting

and Support Services

Managed Mobility Solutions

We offer complementary set of streamlined mobile communications solutions using our proprietary

cloud-based portal to enable our clients to actively manage their telecommunications assets and expenses
in an efficient and cost-effective manner in safe and secure environment This portal provides our

clients with on-demand access to manage and control deployment of their communications assets and

telecommunications expenses associated with supporting the functional requirements of their mobile

workforce In addition this portal identifies issues that impact our clients workflow and business models

Our suite of managed solutions allows our clients to select single source solution that enables them to

establish viable standard process that focuses on the goals of the clients entire organization Our core

set of managed solutions are set forth below

Business intelligence and reporting portal services Customized dash boards and
reports to

manage the organizations communication assets and expenses and
potential misuses and threats to

the organizations overall communications environment We provide variety of standard reports

that provide data for ongoing periodic reviews and strategic decision-making

Order management and procurement services Streamlined order management procurement and

deployment of communications assets throughout the organization

Asset deployment and management Streamlined tracking of communications assets and

redeployment programs for lost damaged or stolen communications assets throughout the

organization anywhere in the world

Helpdesk support services Centralized helpdesk function and technical troubleshooting available

on 24/7 basis

Invoice and contract management services Combination of traditional telecom invoice auditing

function with an accounts payable integration component to streamline processing and payment of

corrected communications carrier services

Bands of minutes Customized selection and delivery of all available voice data and message

plans offered by the carriers that best fit the users of the devices so that organizations only pay for

the services they utilize on monthly basis This service enables organizations to effectively

manage their current inventory and control new procurements



Carrier invoice and usage auditing services Communications carrier invoice auditing of

historical billings to identify invalid service billings and other credits associated with customer

spend Audit of employee utilization of communications assets to optimize usage and identify

cost-savings opportunities

Sourcing management services Contract negotiation with communications carriers suppliers and

related products and services

We believe that telecom resources are extremely valuable assets in terms of both equipment and

information capture We build solutions that ensure the privacy of both corporate and personal

information Our centralized approach helps to prevent security breaches In addition we find that our

telecom services can generally save our clients 30% to 65% of their current communications costs

Cybersecurity Solutions

Identity assurance is increasingly important with mobile computing and communications devices used

by growing mobile workforce and the proliferation of e-commerce and other sensitive transactions

conducted using personal communications devices Enterprises conducting business through e-commerce

online banking and trading Internet-based enterprise solutions for process automation or digital signature

enablement will require secure identity assurance solution in todays cloud-based environment to protect

the business against the growing risk of cyber fraud and other schemes designed to deprive an enterprise

and its customer of their valuable assets

We believe we are positioned at the forefront of implementing solutions that provide our clients with

secure communications methodologies We offer complementary set of compliant identity management

solutions to provide our customers with the ability to protect their valuable communications assets and

provide secured virtual and physical access to restricted environments We have significant operational

experience and subject matter expertise in all facets of identity proofing credential issuing and public key

infrastructure technology Our core set of secure identity managed solutions are set forth below

Certificate credentials We have been certified by the federal government through our wholly-

owned subsidiary Operational Research Consultants Inc ORC to facilitate public access to

the services offered by government agencies including on-line access to computers for purposes of

reviewing retrieving providing and exchanging information Our digital certificate credentials are

authorized to provide trusted individual or business identity information for use by the Department

of Defense DoD FirstGov General Services Administration GSA and participating federal

government agencies Our digital certificate credential services include the DoD External

Certificate Authority Access Certificates for Electronic Services and the General Services

Administration Shared Service Provider These credentials can be used to

Authenticate to government and organization websites containing Sensitive But

Unclassified information

Contract for the purchase of goods or services

Verify the identity of electronic mail correspondents

Verify the identity of web/application servers

Verify the identity of individuals accessing data servers and

Verify the integrity of software and documents posted on data servers



Technical consulting services We also provide an analysis of an organizations business and

technical policies across application and data resources for the implementation of various devices such as

smart cards security tokens cell phones and personal computers and efficiently implement these

capabilities by incorporating higher levels of automated infrastructure Our implementation services

enable an organization to quickly deploy fully operational system providing the highest levels of

identification and authorization of users and devices securing of sensitive data time-stamping and

archiving of data and an auditable process flow Further our credentials used to accomplish all of these

requirements are interoperable with any other U.S federal agency or organization choosing to accept U.S

federally-compliant credentials

Consulting and Support Services

We offer full range of IT consulting services and products to support our clients IT needs We draw

upon the expertise and talents of our consultants and combine this with our business knowledge so that

our clients see results quickly and responsively Through the combination of select products that we offer

along with our consultants subject matter expertise we provide our clients with diverse selection of IT

integrated consulting services Among these services are

IT Architecture and Planning We offer IT architecture and planning services to ensure that our

clients get the most from their IT investments Our experience enables us to help our clients make

important decisions that align IT with business goals and objectives Our approach is to be our

clients strategic advisor without vendor or technology specific bias in the areas of IT Strategic

planning Software selection and Project management

Svstem Integration Services Our system integration services team provides our clients with the

creative and technical expertise needed to execute projects of any size Our consultants follow

rapid iterative methodology that provides benefits and reduces the risks
typically associated with

system integration projects We possess specific competencies and experience in the areas of

Application development Application integration and Business intelligence

IT Outsourcing Our IT Outsourcing specialists work with our clients to develop customized

solution that cost effectively provides for their IT needs We specialize in the areas of

Infrastructure management Applications management and IT strategic planning

Information Assurance IA We provide full range of IA support services to help our customers

to protect and defend information and information systems by ensuring confidentiality integrity

authentication availability and non-repudiation Additionally our IA services include strategic

risk analysis and management support that includes physical security reliability continuity of

operations planning and support for other enterprise governance issues such as privacy

compliance audits and disaster recovery Our IA services include

Certification and Accreditation

Security Architecture Design

System Security Planning

Security Risk Assessment and Mitigation Planning

Vulnerability Testing and Remediation

Customizable IA plans and processes to correspond to customer needs



Continuity of Operations Planning

Support Services Our support services address on-going enhancements to existing IT systems

along with developing new IT systems that incorporate the evolution of long-term advanced

hardware and software technologies In supporting the federal state and local government

agencies we provide full life cycle system support services that include software development

system integration testing security engineering training and operations and maintenance services

to our customers

Strategy

Our objective is to grow our business profitably as premier technology-based provider of product

and service solutions to both the public and private sectors with an emphasis on growing our Managed

Mobility Solutions and Cybersecurity Solutions Our strategies for achieving our objective to grow our

business profitably include the following

Retain and Cross-Sell Existing Customer Base

Many of our professional staff work on-site or work in close proximity with our customers and we

develop close customer relationships
and are often able to enhance our customers operations by

rapidly identifying and developing solutions for customer-specific requirements We intend to

continue to deliver product and service solutions to meet or exceed customer expectations and

recommend complementary product and service solutions that will meet the business objectives of

our customers

Attract New Customers by Referral and Expertise

We intend to leverage our long-term relationships with our existing customers to reach new

customers in our target
market We also intend to use our reputation within the federal state and

local government agencies and corporate customers to attract new customers

Growth Opportunities in Target Markets

We believe that the increased focus on efficient use of financial resources in the public and private

sectors creates an opportunity for continued growth in identity management services and

communications based management services Our ability to deliver savings may present additional

opportunities to provide management and delivery of secure and advanced technology solutions

for enterprise applications and information systems We will continue to develop our sales and

marketing infrastructure and channels to drive new customer growth opportunities in our target

market

Preparing our Infrastructure for Growth

We continue to develop our operational competencies and disciplines to allow us to both support

existing and growth opportunities We will continue to strengthen our financial infrastructure to

support the general and administrative requirements attributable to our growth strategies



Attracting Training and Retaining Highly Skilled Professionals

We continue to attract train and retain highly skilled professionals including engineers scientists

analysts technicians and support specialists to ensure that we have the capabilities to fulfill our

customers requirements We target candidates who have served in the military or as civilian

experts as well as those who are leading specialists in their technology disciplines We believe we

can continue to retain our employees by offering competitive compensation and benefit plans

opportunities for career growth through company-supported education programs and diverse and

challenging assignments

Pursuing Strategic Acquisitions

We are focused primarily on acquiring businesses that provide value-added solutions for our

present service offerings and customer base We will also selectively pursue strategic acquisitions

of businesses that can cost-effectively further broaden our domain expertise and service solutions

to our customers and allow us to establish relationships with new customers or enter new target

markets

Clients

Our government client base is located predominantly in the Mid-Atlantic region of the U.S while our

commercial client base is located throughout the continental U.S Our clients are for the most part large

governmental agencies federal government contractors or large commercial enterprises Historically we

have derived and may continue to derive in the future significant percentage of our total revenues from

relatively small number of clients The following table sets forth the percentage of our revenue derived

from customers representing 10% or more of our consolidated revenues for the years ended

DECEMBER 31

2012 2011

Asa%of Asa%of

Custonr Nan Revenues Revenues

TrapoftnSecwtyAdnatnA 19% 23%

Departnnt of Honknd Security DHS 15% 27%

Due to the nature of our business and the relative size of certain contracts which are entered into in the

ordinary course of business the loss of any single significant customer would have material adverse

effect on our results of operations In future periods we will focus on diversifying our revenue by

increasing the number of commercial customer contracts

Marketing and Sales

We focus our sales and marketing efforts on targeting federal state and local government agencies and

corporate clients with significant and/or critical mobile telecom expense management budgets and

requirements U.S federal agencies and large corporate user groups requiring identity management

compliant solutions for logical and physical access to federal installations and systems and large

corporate users with significant IT budgets and requirements We market our solutions through our direct

sales force and alliances with several strategic partners in specific industries The direct sales force in



concert with our engagement and operations managers is responsible for providing highly responsive

quality
service and ensuring client satisfaction Strategic partnerships and alliances provide us with

additional access to potential clients

Research and Development

We engage in certain research and development activities to develop customized software IT

processes and other appropriate products and solutions for customers in each of our business segments In

developing customized products and solutions for our customers we work closely with our customers and

are responsive to their feedback throughout the process In addition we have acquired assets in research

and development through our strategic acquisitions While we do engage in research and development of

products and services including customized software products for our customers we did not have

material research and development expenses in 2012 or 2011

Intellectual Property

Our intellectual property rights are important to our business We rely on combination of patent

copyright trademark service mark trade secret and other rights in the United States and other

jurisdictions as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our proprietary

technology processes and other intellectual property We protect our intellectual property rights in

number of ways including entering into confidentiality and other written agreements with our employees

customers consultants and partners in an attempt to control access to and distribution of our software

documentation and other proprietary technology and other information Despite our efforts to protect our

proprietary rights third parties may in an unauthorized manner attempt to use copy or otherwise obtain

and market or distribute our intellectual property rights or technology or otherwise develop software or

services with the same functionality as our software and services

U.S patent filings are intended to provide the holder with right to exclude others from making

using selling or importing in the United States the inventions covered by the claims of granted patents

Our patents including our pending patents if granted may be contested circumvented or invalidated

Moreover the rights that may be granted in those issued and pending patents may not provide us with

proprietary protection or competitive advantages and we may not be able to prevent third parties from

infringing those patents Therefore the exact benefits of our issued patents and if issued our pending

patents and the other steps that we have taken to protect our intellectual property cannot be predicted with

certainty

Government Contracts

We have numerous government contracts and contract vehicles Contract vehicles include Government

Wide Acquisition Contracts GWACs Indefinite Delivery/Indefinite Quantity ID/IQ contracts and

Blanket Purchase Agreements BPAs based upon General Services Administration GSA Schedule

rates Our major prime contracts are with various departments of the Department of Defense DoD the

Transportation Safety Administration TSA the Department of Homeland Security DHS the

Centers for Disease Control CDC and Customs and Border Protection CBP We also hold

number of ID/IQ contracts that extend our capability to expand our revenue base including but not

limited to

GSA contracts for the Federal Strategic Sourcing Initiative FSSI for Telecommunications

Expense Management TEM Federal Supply Schedule for Management Organizational and



Business Improvement Services MOBIS the Federal Supply Schedule for Professional

Engineering Services PES the Solutions and More SAM Streamlined Technology

Acquisition Resources for Services STARS and the IT Schedule 70

The Department of Justice DOJ Information Technology Support Services ITSS contract

The SeaPort-e Contract to provide engineering technical and programmatic support services to

the Naval Surface Warfare Centers and the Naval Undersea Warfare Centers

The Defense Intelligence Agency Solutions for the Information Technology Enterprise SITE
contract to provide information technology services and capabilities to the Defense Intelligence

Agency the Military Services the U.S Coast Guard the Combatant Commands the Joint Reserve

Intelligence Program and other Defense and non-Department of Defense departments or Agencies

with intelligence missions or that utilize intelligence information systems

Subsidiaries of WidePoint are approved subcontractors for the following ID/IQ contracts

GSA Alliant Small Business

GSA Networx

GSA Connections II

National Institutes of Health CIO-SP3

We also have various relationships with other contractors that allow us to act as subcontractor

thereby providing us access to various other contracts and contract vehicles in biometrics and identity

management infrastructure support and Information Technology Support Services

Our contracts with the federal government and many contracts with other entities permit the

government client to modify curtail or terminate the contract at any time for the convenience of the

government or for default by the contractor If contract is terminated for convenience we are generally

reimbursed for our allowable costs through the date of termination and are paid proportionate amount of

the stipulated profit or fee attributable to the work actually performed

Seasonality

Our business is not seasonal However our revenues and operating results may vary significantly from

quarter-to-quarter due to revenues earned on contracts the number of billable days in quarter the timing

of the pass-through of other direct costs the commencement and completion of contracts during any

particular quarter as well as the schedule of the government agencies for awarding contracts the term of

each contract that we have been awarded and general economic conditions Because significant portion

of our expenses such as personnel and facilities costs are fixed in the short term successful contract

performance and variation in the volume of activity as well as in the number of contracts commenced or

completed during any quarter may cause significant variations in operating results from quarter to quarter



Competition

The competitive profiles for the services we provide vary for each of our three segments

Managed Mobility Solutions Our key competitors in the U.S federal marketplace currently

include Profitline which was acquired by Tangoe Inc and Rivermine which was acquired by

IBM Our key competitors in the commercial marketplace other than the above-named

competitors are large number of small-sized participants as the marketplace remains fragmented

We believe that the major competitive factors are distinctive technical competencies successful

past contract performance price of services reputation for quality and key management personnel

with domain expertise

Cybersecurity Solutions Our key competitors currently include variety of both large and small

companies including divisions of large federal government integrators such as Lockheed Martin

Corporation Northrop Grumman Corporation and other large and mid-sized federal contractors

as well as limited number of small to mid-sized subject matter expert organizations offering

specialized capabilities within the identity management space The same companies that are our

competitors will at times team with us or subcontract to us in the pursuit of new business We
believe that the major competitive factors in this segment are distinctive technical competencies

governmental certifications and approvals to operate within this space successful past contract

performance price of services reputation for quality and key management personnel with domain

expertise

Consulting and Support Services Our key competitors currently include divisions of large

defense contractors such as Lockheed Martin Corporation Northrop Grumman Corporation

EDS/Hewlett Packard Unisys Computer Services Corporation Science Applications International

Corporation and Manpower as well as number of small and mid-size companies Because of

the diverse requirements of U.S government customers and large corporate customers and the

highly competitive nature of large procurements corporations frequently form alliances or teams

to pursue contract opportunities The same companies listed as competitors will at another point

in time team with us or subcontract to us in the pursuit of new business

Employees

As of December 31 2012 we had approximately 227 full-time employees We periodically engage

additional consultants and employ temporary employees

The majority of our offices are located in areas populated by military personnel both retired and

active duty and highly-skilled civilian personnel Potential employees possessing the unique

qualifications required are readily available for both part-time and full-time employment The primary

method of soliciting personnel is through recruiting resources directly utilizing all known sources

including electronic databases public forums and personal networks of friends and former co-workers

We believe that our future success will depend in part on our continued ability to attract and retain

highly skilled managerial technical sales and support personnel We generally do not have employment

contracts with our employees but we do selectively maintain employment agreements with key

employees In addition confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements are in place with many of our

employees None of our employees are subject to collective bargaining agreement We believe that our

relations with our employees are good
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Corporate Information

We were incorporated on May 30 1997 under the laws of the State of Delaware under the name

WidePoint Corporation Our principal executive offices are located at 7926 Jones Branch Drive Suite

520 McLean Virginia 22102 Our internet address is www.widepoint.com Information on our website

is not incorporated into this Form 10-K We make available free of charge through our website our

Annual Report on Form 10-K Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K and

amendments to those
reports

filed or furnished pursuant to Section 3a or 5d of the Securities

Exchange Act of 934 as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with or

furnish it to the United States Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC The SEC maintains an

Internet site that contains reports proxy and information statements and other information regarding

issuers that file electronically with the SEC at http//www.sec.gov

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

Not applicable

ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable

ITEM PROPERTIES

All of the our property locations except for the iSYS call center which has mortgage obligation of

approximately $500000 of which the mortgage payments are covered under lease agreement We
believe we can obtain additional facilities required to accommodate projected needs without difficulty and

at commercially reasonable prices although no assurance can be given that we will be able to do so The

following represents our property locations at December 31 2012

ApproL Annual

Funcüon PbysicalStieetAddiess City State ZipCode Exiihon St Lease Cost

Executive 0flie 7926 Jois BrazhDnw Suite 520 McLeai VA 12/31/14 500 9600

AccouiIig0flie 11250 Waples Mill Rd Tower Sule 220 Faiix VA 22030 3/15/14 2400 36000

Accouiliig 0flke 1736 South Park Court Sute 201 Clsapeake VA 23320 4/30/15 2400 36000

Coniial Sales Ofilee 5950 Caxxga Awuue Suite 500 Woodixl Hil CA 91367 6/30/16 3142 83000

ConEit1Sales0fle 220 SouthMaiiSt RoyalOakM148067 8/31/14 2860 48000

Governnnt Sales Ofilee 7926 Jores Braih Drive Suite 520 McLean VA 5131/15 1900 55000

Con ivn1Sales0ffe l8WlOO22ixlStreetSule 124 OakbrookTerraceIL60l8l 9/30/13 800 11700

0peratsi 0fl1e 11250 Waples MiliRd Tower Suite 210 Faiiix VA 22030 3/15/14 9500 320000

OpemiOffe 101 GreenMeadowsDnveSouth LewnCeiler0H43035 12/31/20 7600 66000

0perati 0fl1e Eaton Street Suites 800/807 Hanton VA 23669 11/30/14 6082 79066

0peratOffse l04CudeLai MadnonTN37115 8/31/13 2632 35000

Operatxns 0ffie 280 Pihurst Awii Suite SoutmPis NC 28387 12/14/13 2500 23400

42316 802766
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ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time we may be involved in claims arising in the ordinary course of business We are

not currently involved in any material legal proceedings governmental actions investigations or claims

are currently pending against us or involve us that in the opinion of our management could reasonably be

expected to have material adverse effect on our business and financial condition

ITEM MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

None
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock trades on the NYSE MKT under the symbol WYY and on the Frankfurt and

Berlin exchanges under the symbol ZMX The stock prices listed below represent the high and low

closing prices of the Common Stock on the NYSE MKT for each of the periods indicated

________
2012 2011

___________ ______ Low High Low
033 094 069

0.37 095 067

057 122 075

069 148 121

As of the close of business on March 15 2013 there were 155 registered holders of record of our

common stock

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Information regarding our equity compensation plans and the securities authorized for issuance

thereunder is incorporated by reference to Item 12 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Dividend Policy

The Company has never paid cash dividends on its Common Stock and intends to continue this policy

for the foreseeable future WidePoint plans to retain earnings for use in growing its business base Any

future determination to pay cash dividends will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors the Board
of the Company and will be dependent on WidePoints results of operations financial condition

contractual and legal restrictions and any other factors deemed by the management and the Board to be

priority requirement of the business

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None

Repurchases of Equity Securities

The Company repurchased no shares of its Common Stock during the fourth quarter of 2012

Peiid

Decenger 31
High

September 30

0.59

0.63

June30 0.94

March31 0.95

Holders
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Not applicable

ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Forward Looking Statements

The information set forth below includes forward-looking statements Certain factors that could cause

results to differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements are set forth below

Readers are cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward-looking statements The Company disclaims

any intent or obligation to update publicly these forward-looking statements whether as result of new

information future events or otherwise

Organizational Overview

WidePoint Corporation was incorporated on May 30 1997 under the laws of the state of Delaware

WidePoint Corporation is leading provider of federally certified secure identity management and

communications solutions to the government and commercial sectors We offer core set of enterprise-

based solutions to enable organizations to deploy fully compliant solutions in accordance with government

requirements and the demands of the commercial marketplace Our on-demand workforce mobility

communications platforms are suite of advanced and federally certified proprietary cloud-based software

solutions designed to enable secure identity management and manage the complex processes and expenses

associated with complex communication assets and services of any enterprise

Our advanced technology-based solutions can be customized to meet functional requirements of any

organization and be accessible on-demand through the cloud Many alternative solutions lack the

necessary functionality security reliability and depth of technical resources required to successfully

administer an efficient and cost-effective solution We are in the process of realigning our business model

to sell recurring technology and services leveraging our identity and communications management

platforms and sell customized on premise solutions for enterprises that require an in-house solution

Current Trends in the Market

Our target market is characterized by rapid technological change and frequent new product and service

offerings Our largest competitors are expanding their service offerings through targeted acquisitions of

specialty IT companies There are high barriers to entry into our market space due to the specialized

technical nature of our products and services delivered and scalability is essential to operating profitably

Business development requires significant expertise and deep federal and commercial networks to

compete effectively against more established companies
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Our commercial customer base is sensitive to general economic conditions and regulatory and

legislative actions that may affect their domestic and/or international operations We continue to evaluate

domestic and international market conditions as any significant decline in economic activity may

negatively affect the financial condition of our customers and conversely their willingness to purchase

additional products and services Although there appeared to be generally improved domestic and

international market conditions through fiscal 2011 and 2012 there has not been full recovery to pre

recessionary levels and there remains uncertainty with regard to the stability of our fragile domestic

recovery in fiscal 2013 Clearly there remain many challenges to address both domestically and

internationally regarding weak long term job creation volatile consumer confidence uncertain consumer

behavior an uncertain real estate market and the regulatory and legislative environment after the U.S

presidential election

We remain focused on continued retention and expansion of services to our existing customer base and

attracting new customers in the government and commercial sectors At the end of fiscal 2011 we

increased our reach in the commercial sector with the Avalon Global Solutions Inc AGS asset

purchase completed through our wholly-owned subsidiary WidePoint Solutions Corp In fiscal 2012 our

consolidated revenue base was more diversified between government and commercial clients and we

expect that trend to continue in fiscal 2013 We intend to cross-sell additional services to AGSs existing

customer base and leverage our existing customer relationships to reach new customers worldwide We

are continuing to actively search out new synergistic acquisitions that we believe may further enhance our

present base of business and service offerings

We remain focused on efficient use of our infrastructure optimizing our operating costs and

centralizing certain functions and procedures during fiscal 2012 Our profitability depends upon both the

type and volume of services performed and the Companys ability to efficiently manage costs Our staff

consists of business process and computer specialists who help our government and civilian customers

augment and expand their resident technologic skills and competencies drive technical innovation and

help develop and maintain competitive edge in todays rapidly changing technological environment in

business

As significant portion of our recurring cost structure is labor-related we must effectively manage

these costs to achieve and grow our profitability
Another significant portion of our cost structure includes

our airtime plans and other vendor-related offerings under our Managed Mobility Solutions services To

date the Company has attempted to maximize its operating margins through efficiencies achieved by the

use of its proprietary methodologies and by offsetting increases in consultant compensation with

increases in consultant fees received from its clients

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Refer to Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements for summary of the Companys significant

accounting policies referenced as applicable to other notes In many cases the accounting treatment of

particular transaction is specifically dictated by U.S GAAP and does not require managements judgment

in its application There are also areas in which managements judgment in selecting among available

alternatives would not produce materially different result The Companys senior management has

reviewed these critical accounting policies and related disclosures with its Audit Committee See Note to

consolidated financial statements which contain additional information regarding accounting policies and

other disclosures required by U.S GAAP The following section below provides information about

certain critical accounting policies that are important to the Consolidated Financial Statements and that

require significant management assumptions and judgments

15



Business Combinations

The application of purchase accounting to business acquisition requires that the Company identify

the individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed and estimate the fair value of each The Company

estimates the fair value of purchase consideration in each business combination using an acceptable

valuation methodology which may include an income market and/or cost approach The Company

assigns provisional value on the date of purchase and engages qualified third party valuation

professionals to estimate the fair value of significant assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Purchase consideration is often paid to the seller in the form of cash seller financed promissory notes

and/or shares of common stock that may or may not contain contingency often tied to future financial

performance targets The Company generally assesses the estimated fair value of contingent obligations

using probability weighted income approach discounted cash flow valuation technique which requires

the use of observable and unobservable inputs Fluctuations in the fair value of contingent obligations are

impacted by two unobservable inputs managements estimate of the probability of the acquired company

meeting the operating performance target and the estimated discount rate rate that approximates the

Companys weighted average cost of capital Significant increases decreases in either of those inputs in

isolation would result in significantly higher lower fair value measurement Fair value is assessed for

contingent obligations on quarterly basis until such contingencies have been resolved and any changes in

fair value are recorded as gain or loss on change in fair value of contingent obligations within general

and administrative expense

The Company revised its provisional value of contingent consideration paid related to the Avalon

Global Solutions Inc AGS business combination to reflect additional information existing at the date

of the AGS purchase that affected the payout probabilities used in our calculation of fair value and

working capital adjustments finalized during fiscal 2012 The Company decreased its contingent

obligation provisional value from $3.0 million to $2.15 million as of December 31 2011 The Company

reassessed the fair value of contingent consideration during the year ended December 31 2012 and

recorded non-cash gain of approximately $0.9 million to reflect reduction in the fair value of its

contingent obligation due to non-attainment of certain financial performance targets in fiscal 2012 and

changes in the 2013 financial performance based on revised internal forecasts The fair value of this

contingent obligation will be reassessed quarterly until fiscal year ending December 31 2013

Goodwill and intangible assets often represent significant portion of the assets acquired in business

combination The Company recognizes the fair value of an acquired intangible apart
from goodwill

whenever the intangible arises from contractual or other legal rights or when it can be separated or

divided from the acquired entity and sold transferred licensed rented or exchanged either individually or

in combination with related contract asset or liability The Company generally assesses the estimated

fair values of acquired intangibles using an income and market approach except for internally developed

software which is valued using cost approach The fair values of the intangible assets purchased were

determined using combination of valuation techniques Fluctuations in the fair value of intangibles are

impacted by two unobservable inputs managements five year forecast and the estimated discount rate

rate that approximates the Companys weighted average cost of capital Significant increases decreases

in either of those inputs in isolation would result in significantly higher lower fair value measurement
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The Company had finite lived intangible assets with carrying value of approximately $5.0 million as

of December 31 2012 The fair value of intangibles acquired in connection with business combinations

continued to generate positive returns above its carrying value Accordingly the Company has concluded

the fair value of its intangibles is not impaired at December 31 2012 The Company could be exposed to

increased risk of recoverability to the extent future revenue estimates may not support the recovery of

purchased intangible assets

Revenue Recognition

Telecommunications expense management and device management services are delivered on

monthly basis based on standard fixed pricing scale and sensitive to significant changes in per user or

device counts which form the basis for monthly charges Revenue is recognized upon the completion of

the delivery of monthly managed services based on user or device counts or other metrics Managed

services are not interdependent and there are no undelivered elements in these arrangements If estimated

user or device counts are significantly different from actual counts it could significant affect the

calculation of reported monthly managed service fees

Telecommunications carrier invoice management and payment services requires the Company to

purchase bands of minutes text messaging and data services from large carriers and optimizes these

services for its mobile customers The Company recognizes revenues and related costs on gross basis for

these arrangements as we have discretion in choosing providers rate plans and devices in providing the

services to our customers We establish pricing for our customer contracts For arrangements in which

we do not have such credit risk we recognize revenues and related costs on net basis

Telecommunications audit and optimization services are professional services conducted over

specified period of time These professional services are billed based on time incurred and actual costs or

on contingency basis The Company recognizes revenues in services performed based on actual hours

worked and actual costs incurred The Company recognizes contingent based service arrangements when

our savings results are verified by the carrier and accepted by the customer Contingent fees earned are

calculated based on projected or proven savings times an agreed upon recovery rate Cost associated with

contingent fee arrangements are recognized as incurred

Telecommunication mobile device and accessory resale services may require the Company to facilitate

as an agent on our customers account or transact on our own account to deliver third party vendor

products and/or services to meet our customers specific functional requirements For those transactions

in which we procure and deliver products and services for our own account the Company recognizes

revenues and related costs on gross basis for these arrangements as we have discretion in choosing

providers rate plans and devices in providing the services to our customers For those transactions in

which we procure and deliver products and services for our customers on their own account we recognize

revenues and related costs on net basis

Public Key Infrastructure PKJ credentialing services are delivered as an on-demand managed

service through the cloud to an individual or organization or sold in bulk to an organization capable of

self-issuing credentials Credentialing services are not bundled or include other obligations to deliver

Revenue is recognized from the sales of credentials to an individual or organization upon issuance or in

the case of bulk sales or consoles upon issue or availability to the customer for issuance There is no

obligation to provide post contract services in relation to certificates issued and consoles delivered

Certificates issued have fixed life and cannot be modified or reissued
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Network and consulting services are professional services are provided largely on project basis based

our customers specific requirements These technical professional services are billed based on time

incurred and actual costs The Company recognizes revenues in services performed based on actual hours

worked and actual costs incurred

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost of an acquired company over the fair value of assets

acquired and liabilities assumed In accordance with GAAP goodwill is not amortized but is tested for

impairment at the reporting unit level annually at December 31 and between annual tests if events or

circumstances arise such as adverse changes in the business climate that would more likely than not

reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying value

The Company assigns goodwill to its reporting units for the purpose of impairment testing

reporting unit is defined as either an operating segment or business one level below an operating

segment for which discrete financial information is available that management regularly reviews

The goodwill impairment test utilizes two-step approach The first step
identifies whether there is

potential impairment by comparing the fair value of reporting unit to its carrying amount including

goodwill If the fair value of reporting unit is less than its carrying amount the second step of the

impairment test is required to measure the amount of any impairment loss The Company has the option

to bypass the qualitative assessment for any reporting period and proceed to performing the first step
of

the two-step goodwill impairment test and then subsequently resume performing qualitative assessment

in any subsequent period The Company bypassed using qualitative assessment for 2012

Goodwill impairment testing involves management judgment requiring an assessment of whether the

carrying value of the reporting unit can be supported by its fair value using widely accepted valuation

techniques such as the market approach earnings multiples or transaction multiples for the industry in

which the reporting unit operates or the income approach discounted cash flow methods The fair values

of the reporting units were determined using combination of valuation techniques consistent with the

market approach and the income approach

When preparing discounted cash flow models under the income approach the Company estimates

future cash flows using the reporting units internal five year forecast and terminal value calculated

using growth rate that management believes is appropriate in light of current and expected future

economic conditions The Company then applies discount rate to discount these future cash flows to

arrive at net present value amount which represents the estimated fair value of the reporting unit The

discount rate applied approximates the expected cost of equity financing determined using capital asset

pricing model The model generates an appropriate discount rate using internal and external inputs to

value future cash flows based on the time value of money and the price for bearing the uncertainty

inherent in an investment

The Company has approximately $16.6 million of goodwill as of December 31 2012 The fair value

of each of the Companys reporting units is above its carrying value accordingly the Company has

concluded its goodwill is not impaired at December 31 2012 The Company could be exposed to

increased risk of goodwill impairment if future operating results or macroeconomic conditions differ

significantly from managements current assumptions
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company has not historically maintained bad debt reserve for its federal government customers

Allowances for doubtful accounts relate to commercial accounts receivable and unbilled accounts

receivable represent managements best estimate of the losses inherent in the Companys outstanding

trade accounts receivable The Company determines its allowance by considering number of factors

including the length of time accounts receivable are past due the Companys previous loss history the

customers current ability to pay its obligation to the Company and the condition of the general economy

and the industry as whole Customer account balances outstanding longer than 120 days are placed with

third party collection agency and reserve is established The Company writes off accounts receivable

after 180 days or earlier when they become uncollectible and payments subsequently received on such

receivables are credited to the allowance for doubtful accounts

To the extent historical credit experience updated for emerging market trends in credit is not indicative

of future performance actual losses could differ significantly from managements judgments and

expectations resulting in either higher or lower future provisions for losses as applicable The process of

determining the allowance for doubtful accounts requires high degree of judgment It is possible that

others given the same information may at any point in time reach different reasonable conclusions

Share-Based Compensation

The Company issues share-based compensation awards to company employees upon which the fair

value of awards is subject to significant estimates made by management The fair value of each option

award is estimated on the date of grant using Black-Scholes option pricing model Black-Scholes

model which uses the assumptions of no dividend yield risk free interest rates and expected life in

years of approximately years The option awards are for the period from 1999 through 2012

Expected volatilities are based on the historical volatility of our common stock The expected term of

options granted is based on analyses of historical employee termination rates and option exercises The

risk-free interest rates are based on the U.S Treasury yield for period consistent with the expected term

of the option in effect at the time of the grant To the extent historical volatility estimates risk free

interest rates option terms and forfeiture rates updated for emerging market trends are not indicative of

future performance it could differ significantly from managements judgments and expectations on the fair

value of similar share-based awards resulting in either higher or lower future compensation expense as

applicable The process of determining fair value of share-based compensation requires high degree of

judgment It is possible that others given the same information may at any point in time reach different

reasonable conclusions

Accounting for Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial

statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using the enacted tax rates expected to be in effect for the

years in which the differences are expected to reverse valuation allowance is established when

management determines that it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the benefit of the

deferred tax asset will not be realized
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Since deferred taxes measure the future tax effects of items recognized in the financial statements

certain estimates and assumptions are required to determine whether it is more likely than not that all or

some portion of the benefit of deferred tax asset will not be realized In making this assessment

management analyzes and estimates the impact of future taxable income reversing temporary differences

and available tax planning strategies These assessments are performed quarterly taking into account any

new information The Companys significant deferred tax assets consist of net operating loss

carryforwards share-based compensation and intangible asset amortization Should change in facts or

circumstances lead to change in judgment about the ultimate ability to realize deferred tax asset

including our utilization of historical net operating losses and share-based compensation expense the

Company records or adjusts the related valuation allowance in the period that the change in facts or

circumstances occurs along with corresponding increase or decrease to the income tax provision

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards Updates ASU

ASU Update No 2011-08 Intangibles Goodwill and Other This amendment allows an entity to

first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of

reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform

the two-step quantitative goodwill impairment test as described in Accounting Standards Codification

Topic No 350 Intangibles Goodwill The amendments include number of events and circumstances

for an entity to consider in conducting the qualitative assessment An entity has the option to bypass the

qualitative assessment for any reporting period and proceed to performing the first step of the two-step

goodwill impairment test and then subsequently resume performing qualitative assessment in any

subsequent period This amendment no longer permits carry forward of prior year quantitative

calculations of reporting unit fair value The amendments are effective for annual and interim goodwill

impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2011 Early adoption is

permitted The Company adopted this accounting standard update for fiscal year ended December 31

2012 and elected to bypass the qualitative assessment There were no material impacts to the consolidated

financial statements as result of adopting this accounting standard update

2012 Consolidated Operating Results Financial Review

Year Ended December 31 2012 Compared to the Year ended December 31 2011

Segment operating income consists of the revenues generated by segment less the direct costs of

revenue and selling general and administrative costs that are incurred directly by the segment

Unallocated corporate costs include costs related to administrative functions that are performed in

centralized manner that are not attributable to particular segment Management does not analyze assets

for decision making purposes as it is not significant factor Accordingly information is not available for

long-lived assets or total assets During 2012 we initiated management reorganization that focused on

repositioning key management resources and strategic offerings into one segment rather than multiple

segments In 2013 we will continue implementing this reorganization plan and will be managing and

reporting our operations as singular segment in the future The following table sets forth selected

segment and consolidated operating results and other operating data for the periods indicated
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FortIYearEm1edDeceither 31 2012

Managed Consulting Corporate

Mobky Cyber aixi Support Administrative

Solutions Security Servines Servines Total

Revenues $31800589 6891791 $17090362 $55782742

hoins luss fiomoperatkns 2831710 654758 112516 2580207 1018777

Net interest incoins expense 289363 289363

Net ot1r incoins expense 3200 3200

Net incoins beibre provision

lbrincon taxes 2831710 654758 112516 2866370 732614

Net iricoins tax besefit 99687 99687
Net incotue 2831710 654758 112516 2766683 832301

FortheYearEtxledDecenther 31 2011

Managed Consulting Corporate

Moblhty Cyber and Support Administrative

Solutions Security Servres Serves Total

Revenues $23813476 6515141 $11043873 $41372490

Jrotue luss fromoperathns 2056335 1105622 612050 2444734 105173

Net interest incon expense 56745 56745
Net other incoins expense 608 608

Net incon beibre provision

Ibr incon taxes 2056335 1105622 612050 2502087 47820

Net incoiue taxbeuefit 199046 199046
Net irEolue 2056335 1105622 612050 2303041 246866

Revenues

Consolidated revenues for the year ended December 31 2012 increased to approximately $55.8

million an increase of approximately $14.4 million or 5% as compared to approximately $41.4 million

in the same period last year This increase was result of revenue growth in all of our segments which

included growth in revenue from customers transitioned over as result of the asset acquisition of AGS of

approximately $7.0 million Our segment revenue comparison is set forth below

Our Managed Mobility Solutions segment realized revenues of approximately $3 1.8 million an

increase of approximately $8.0 million or 34% for the year ended December 31 2012 as

compared to approximately $23.8 million in the same period last year Excluding revenue growth

attributable to customers transitioned over in connection with the AGS transaction we experienced

revenue growth of approximately $1.0 million We continued to shift away from lower margin

revenue generated from billable reselling of minutes to our federal customers We continue to

believe that growth strategies to expand our reach in the commercial and state government sectors

should provide us with the revenue mix and customer diversification sought to meet our overall

growth strategies and manage variability in revenue from federal government contracts
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Our Cyber Security Managed Solutions segment realized revenues of approximately $6.9 million

an increase of $0.4 million or 6% for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared to

approximately $6.5 million in the same period last year Our revenue growth materially reflects

continuing credentialing managed service sales in connection with the Transportation Workers

Identification Credentialing TWIC program We believe our credentialing program will expand

from continued support and rollout of additional work with various states in support of our first

responders initiatives and other credentialing initiatives in progress

Our Consulting and Support Services segment realized revenues of approximately $17.1 million

an increase of $6.1 million or 55% for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared to $11.0

million in the same period last year Our revenue growth in this segment was driven by increases

in our technology infrastructure and application consulting services in the commercial sector as

well as increases in product resales of hardware software mobile device and accessory products to

commercial and government sector customers Future performance for this segment may prove

erratic from period to period as consulting service and product resale demand is dependent upon

our customers technology requirements and planned program roll-out periods

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues for the year ended December 31 2012 was approximately $41.9 million or 75% of

revenues as compared to approximately $32.1 million or 78% of revenues in the same period last year

Cost of revenues increased on dollar basis due to the addition of AGS operations on January 2012

Cost of revenues as percentage of revenues improved overall from 78% to 75% driven by higher mix

of higher margin services We anticipate that our cost of revenues in the long term will trend lower as we

continue to pursue revenue growth in the future from higher margin services and optimize the cost to

deliver our managed service solutions

Gross Profit

Gross profit
for the year ended December 31 2012 was approximately $13.8 million or 25% of

revenues as compared to approximately $9.2 million or 22% of revenues in the same period last

year Gross profit increased on dollar basis due to the addition of AGS operations on January 2012

and due to higher mix of higher margin services

Operating Expenses

Sales and marketing expense for the year ended December 31 2012 was approximately $2.7 million

or 5% of revenues as compared to approximately $1.5 million or 4% of revenues in the same period

last year Sales and marketing program expense includes direct and indirect marketing costs and

commission payments to commercial business channel partners which accounted for significant portion

of the increase We anticipate increases in sales and marketing expense as we continue to expand our

customer acquisition initiatives and expand our capabilities and offerings in the market
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General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31 2012 were approximately $9.8

million or 18% of revenues as compared to approximately $7.4 million or 18% of revenues in the

same period last year General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31 2012

includes non-cash gain of approximately $0.9 million that reflects reduction in the fair value of

contingent obligation that is tied to attainment of certain financial performance targets Excluding this

non-cash gain general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31 2012 would have

been approximately $10.8 million or 19% of revenues General and administrative expenses largely

consist of technology infrastructure and support services to manage our customer facing proprietary

technology solutions costs to manage and support out internal facing technology infrastructure financial

management and compliance support and other general support services to manage our infrastructure and

regulatory requirements We anticipate temporary increases in general and administrative expense as we

functionalize the management of our businesses and streamline our operational systems

Depreciation expense for the year ended December 31 2012 was approximately $281300 as

compared to approximately $211100 in the same period last year The increase in depreciation expense

was due to increased pool of depreciable assets to support our technology solutions infrastructure We

anticipate
additional infrastructure investments in computer equipment and other hardware to respond to

anticipated capacity requirements as we growth our revenue base

Other Income Expense

Interest income for the year ended December 31 2012 was approximately $4900 as compared to

approximately $12600 in the same period last year This decrease was due to lower amounts of invested

cash and cash equivalents in interest bearing accounts as well as the continued low short-term interest

rates offered by financial institutions We had lower amounts of invested cash due to our strategic

decisions to reinvest operating cash back into the business to drive our sales and marketing initiatives and

operational initiatives We do not anticipate any material changes in trends in our interest income given

the level of capital committed to support these continued initiatives

Interest expense for the year ended December 31 2012 was approximately $294200 or 1% of

revenues an increase of approximately $224900 as compared to approximately $69300 or less than 1%

of revenues of interest expense in the same period last year The reduction in the fair value of our

contingent obligation resulted in reduction in interest expense and accrued interest by approximately

$22500 for the year ended December 31 2012 The overall increase in interest expense was primarily

attributable to indebtedness incurred in connection with the acquisition of AGS

Other income for the year ended December 31 2012 was approximately $3200 as compared to other

expenses for the year ended December 31 2011 of less than $1000 Other income expense for both

periods did not include any significant items

Provision for Income Taxes

Income tax benefit for the year ended December 31 2012 was approximately $99700 as compared

to $199000 in the same period last year
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Net Income

As result of the factors above the net income for the year ended December 31 2012 was

approximately $832300 as compared to net income of approximately $247000 in the same period last

year

Liquidity and Capital

The Company has since inception financed its operations and capital expenditures through the sale

of preferred and common stock seller notes in connection with acquisitions convertible notes convertible

exchangeable debentures senior secured loans and the proceeds from the exercise of the warrants related

to convertible exchangeable debenture The Companys immediate sources of liquidity include cash and

cash equivalents accounts receivable unbilled receivables and access to working capital credit facility

with Cardinal Bank for up to $8.0 million The Companys operating liabilities consist of trade payables

and payroll obligations

The Companys operations require working capital to fund planned growth strategies and related

initiatives At December 31 2012 the Companys net working capital was approximately $2.6 million as

compared to approximately $2.3 million at December 31 2011 At December 31 2012 there were no

material commitments for additional acquisitions or capital expenditures but that could change with the

addition of material contract awards in any of our segments At December 31 2012 there were no

outstanding borrowings against the Companys working capital credit facility

Cash provided by operating activities provides an indication of our ability to generate sufficient cash

flow from our recurring business activities For the year ended December 31 2012 net cash provided by

operations was approximately $1.0 million as compared to approximately $1.4 million in the same period

last year The decrease in cash flow from operations compared to the same period last year is driven by

receivable billing and collection timing differences on large resale transactions

Cash used in investing activities provides an indication of our long term infrastructure investments

We make recurring purchases of property and equipment to replace or enhance our hardware and software

applications that support customer operations We also make investments in software development related

to our proprietary telecommunications expense management tools and applications and PKI software

certificate credentialing managed services For the year ended December 31 2012 cash used in investing

activities was approximately $0.4 million as compared to approximately $8.8 million in the same period

last year The decrease in investing activity year over year reflects the impact of timing of periodic PKI

credentialing software development costs and purchasing decisions to enter into capital lease

arrangements as opposed to financing the current year technology requirements from available cash

balances

Cash used in financing activities provides an indication of our equity and debt capital raises and

repayment of those obligations For the year ended December 31 2012 cash used in financing activities

was approximately $0.8 million as compared to approximately $3.6 million in the same period last year

We utilized our working capital credit facility during the year ended December 31 2012 to facilitate short

term funding post acquisition at WidePoint Solutions Corp which acquired the assets of AGS while

AGS customer contracts were being assigned and to fund infrastructure investments We repaid our line of

credit advances in full with available cash balances and made our scheduled payments for current

maturities of term debt during the year ended December 31 2012
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We believe our current cash position and our working capital credit facility are sufficient to meet our

minimum requirements for our current business operations Our business environment is characterized by

rapid technological change with periods of high growth and contraction and is influenced by material

events such as mergers and acquisitions that can substantially change our performance and outlook

Constant growth and technological change in our market makes it difficult to predict future liquidity

requirements with certainty

We believe future capital requirements will depend on many factors including the rate of revenue

growth if any the timing and extent of spending for new product and service development strategic

acquisition funding and availability of suitable acquisition targets technological changes in our

proprietary software solutions and market acceptance of the Companys branded products and service

solutions

Over the long term the Company must successfully execute its growth plans to increase profitable

revenue and income streams that should generate positive cash flows to sustain adequate liquidity without

impairing growth initiatives or requiring the infusion of additional funds from external sources to meet
minimum operating requirements including debt service There can be no assurance that additional

financing if required will be available on acceptable terms if at all for future acquisitions and/or growth
initiatives

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company has no existing off-balance sheet arrangements as defined under SEC regulations

Other

Inflation has not had significant effect on the Companys operations as increased costs to the

Company have generally been offset by increased prices of products and services sold

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S GAAP requires management to

make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of

revenues and expenses during the reporting period Actual results could substantially differ from those

estimates

This
report contains forward-looking statements setting forth the Companys beliefs or expectations

relating to future revenues and
profitability Actual results may differ materially from projected or

expected results due to changes in the demand for the Companys products and services uncertainties

relating to the results of operations dependence on its major customers risks associated with rapid

technological change and the emerging services market potential fluctuations in quarterly results and its

dependence on key employees and other risks and uncertainties
affecting the technology industry

generally The Company disclaims any intent or obligation to update publicly these forward-looking

statements whether as result of new information future events or otherwise

ITEM 7A.QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Not applicable
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ITEM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTAL DATA

The consolidated financial statements and schedules required hereunder and contained herein are

listed under Item 15 below

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that

material information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified

in the SECs rules and forms and that the information is accumulated and communicated to our

management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate to allow

timely decisions regarding required disclosure We performed an evaluation under the supervision and

with the participation of our management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial

Officer of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the

end of the period covered by this report Based on the existence of the material weaknesses discussed

below in Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting our management

including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls

and procedures were not effective at the reasonable assurance level as of the end of the period covered by

this report

We do not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures will prevent all errors and all instances

of fraud Disclosure controls and procedures no matter how well conceived and operated can provide

only reasonable not absolute assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are

met Further the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource

constraints and the benefits must be considered relative to their costs Because of the inherent limitations

in all disclosure controls and procedures no evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures can provide

absolute assurance that we have detected all our control deficiencies and instances of fraud if any The

design of disclosure controls and procedures also is based partly on certain assumptions about the

likelihood of future events and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its

stated goals under all potential future conditions

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over

financial reporting Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-l5f and lsd-15f

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended as process designed by or under the

supervision of our principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by our Board

management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial

reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles
and includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of our assets

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
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financial statements in accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles and that

receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations

of our management and directors and

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the

financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Additionally projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to

the risks that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of

compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2012 In making this assessment management used the criteria set forth by the Committee

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO in Internal Control-Integrated

Framework Based on this assessment management concluded that our internal control over financial

reporting was not effective as of December 31 2012 due to the existence of the material weaknesses as of

December 31 2012 discussed below material weakness is control deficiency or combination of

control deficiencies that results in more than remote likelihood that material misstatement of the

annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected in the following areas

Inadequate segregation of duties within an account or process Management has determined that

it continued to not have appropriate segregation of duties within our internal controls that would

ensure the consistent application of procedures in our financial reporting process by existing

personnel This control deficiency could result in misstatement of substantially all of our

financial statement accounts and disclosures that would result in material misstatement to the

annual or interim financial statements

Inadequate policies procedures Management has determined that its existing policies and

procedures continued to be limited andlor inadequate in scope to provide staff with guidance or

framework for accounting and disclosing financial transactions This deficiency could result in

unintended misleading entries being made in the financial system and precluding sufficient

disclosure of complex transactions

Lack of sufficient subject matter expertise Management has determined that it lacks certain

subject matter expertise related to accounting for income taxes and related complex disclosures

This control deficiency could result in misstatement of our deferred income tax accounts and

disclosures that would result in material misstatement to the annual or interim financial

statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of the Companys registered

public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting due to permanent exemptions for

smaller reporting companies
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Remediation Plan for Material Weaknesses

The material weaknesses described above in Managements Report on Internal Control Over

Financial Reporting comprise control deficiencies that we discovered during the financial close process

for the December 31 2012 fiscal period

Management made progress on implementing its remediation plan that includes the following

ongoing activities functionalizing all business operations to improve client service streamline product

development and operational activities and evaluating and implementing customized operational and

financial reporting infrastructure to support functionalizing our business ii implementing approved
centralized policies and procedures designed to streamline operational review and approval workflow and

strengthen the overall internal control environment iii minimizing manual transactional reporting and

iv building in additional technical redundancy in our operations by continuing to expand training and

education content for select members of our sales operational and financial staff

We believe that these measures if effectively implemented and maintained will remediate the

remaining material weaknesses discussed above

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Other than as described above there have been no changes in our internal control over financial

reporting during the fourth quarter of 2012 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to

materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Because of its inherent limitations system of internal control over financial reporting can provide

only reasonable assurance and may not prevent or detect misstatements Further because of changes in

conditions effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting may vary over time Our system

contains self-monitoring mechanisms and actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they are identified
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PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

The following sets forth information regarding the directors executive officers and certain significant

employees of the Company as of March 30 2013

Name Age Position

Steve Komar 71 Chief Executive Officer Director and Chairman of the

Board

James McCubbin 49 Executive Vice President Chief Financial Officer

Secretary Treasurer and Director

Ronald Oxley 66 Executive Vice President Corporate Development

Government Markets and Director

Jin Kang 47 Executive Vice President Chief Operations Officer Chief

Executive Officer and President of iSYS LLC

John Atkinson 50 Executive Vice President and Chief Sales and Marketing

Officer

Daniel Turissini 52 Executive Vice President Chief Technology Officer and

Chief Executive Officer of Operational Research

Consultants Inc

Michael Mansouri 60 Executive Vice President Corporate Development

Commercial and International Markets and Chief Executive

Officer of WidePoint Solutions Corp

Otto Guenther 71 Director

George Norwood 70 Director

James Ritter 68 Director Chairman of the Compensation and Nominating

Committees

Morton Taubman 69 Director Chairman of the Audit Committee

Steve Komar has served as director since December 1997 and became Chairman of the Board in

October 2001 Mr Komar has also served as Chief Executive Officer since December 2001 From June

2000 until December 2001 Mr Komar served as founding partner of C-Ill Holdings development

stage financial services company From 1991 to June 2000 Mr Komar served as Group Executive Vice

President of Fiserv Inc company that provides advanced data processing services and related products

to the financial industry From 1980 to 1991 Mr Komar served in number of financial management

positions with CitiGroup including the role of Chief Financial Officer of Diners Club International and

Citicorp Information Resources respectively Mr Komar is graduate of the City University of New

York with Bachelor of Science Degree in Accounting and holds Masters Degree in Finance from Pace

University Mr Komar serves on the Board of Directors for term expiring at the 2014 Aimual Meeting

of Shareholders
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Mr Komar brings extensive financial and operational management experience to the Board as result

of his past operational experience at several large firms where he held senior executive positions in areas

including financial and operational management and mergers acquisitions The financial and

managerial skills he developed over career that has spanned more than 45 years as well as Mr Komar

experience as our Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer his knowledge of our Company as

result thereof and his prior performance serving as Board member of the Company led the Board to

conclude that he should continue to serve as director of the Company

James McCubbin has served as director and as our Secretary since November 1998 Since

August 1998 Mr McCubbin has also served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Prior to that time from December 1997 to August 1998 Mr McCubbin served as Vice President

Controller Assistant Secretary and Treasurer Prior to the commencement of his employment with

WidePoint in November 1997 Mr McCubbin held various financial management positions with several

companies in the financial and government sectors Mr McCubbin is graduate of the University of

Maryland with Bachelor of Science Degree in Finance and Masters Degree in International

Management Mr McCubbin brings extensive financial and corporate compliance expertise as well as

internal knowledge of the Company as result of his having over 13 years of experience with the

Company Mr McCubbin also has significant experience serving in financial managerial roles within

variety of organizations and membership on several boards of directors over the past 25 years

Mr McCubbin serves on the Board of Directors for term expiring at the 2014 Annual Meeting of

Shareholders Mr McCubbin also presently serves on the Board of Directors of Tianjin Pharmaceutical

Company and is Chairman of its Audit Committee Nominating Committee and Compensation

Committee Mr McCubbin also serves on the Board of Directors of ProPhase Labs Inc and serves on

their Audit Committee Mr McCubbin was also on the Board of Directors of Redmile Entertainment until

his resignation on March 2008 These experiences and his prior performance as Board member led the

Board to conclude that he should continue to serve as director of the Company

Ronald Oxley has served as director since his appointment on August 15 2006 In March 2013

Mr Oxleys was appointed Executive Vice President Corporate Development Government Markets

Mr Oxley served as Executive Vice President Business Development since 2008 Prior to the

commencement of his employment with WidePoint he has had distinguished career within industry and

the U.S federal government His industry experience in part includes serving as President of L3

Communications Analytics Corporation and as Senior Vice President of Federal Marketing for

LittonIPRC During his U.S federal government career he held various senior level executive positions in

the Office of the Secretary of Defense and with the Departments of the Navy and Air Force Ron holds

Masters of Science Degree in Systems Management from the University of Southern California and

Bachelor of Science Degree in Business Administration from the California State University He served in

the U.S Army from 1966 to 1968 including tour of duty in Vietnam

Mr Oxley brings to the Board extensive knowledge of the federal marketplace as result of career

that has spanned both U.S federal government and business enterprises Mr Oxleys knowledge of

federal infrastructure as well as his experience in successful business development and board service

together with his prior performance as Board member led the Board to conclude that he should continue

to serve as director of the Company
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Jin Kang has serves as Executive Vice President and Chief Operations Officer of WidePoint since

June 30 2012 Mr Kang was appointed Chief Operations Officer on June 30 2012 Mr Kang has also

served as the Chief Executive Officer and President of iSYS wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
since our acquisition of iSYS on January 2008 Mr Kang founded the company in 1999 and has

managed iSYS since its inception Mr Kang has over 26 years of professional experience in the Federal

Government Information Technology Services field Prior to founding iSYS Mr Kang was Division

Manager for Science Applications International Corporation SAIC His
responsibilities included the

Combined DNA Index System CODIS marquee program for the FBI Laboratory Division As the

Engineering Manager for Northrop Grumman Corporation Mr Kang played critical role in the

successful management of the Defense Medical Information Systems/Systems Integration Design

Development Operations and Maintenance Services D/SIDDOMS contract from its inception with zero

revenues to program of $190 million in sales Mr Kang received Bachelor and Masters Degrees in

Computer Science and Computer Systems Management from the University of Maryland

John Atkinson has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Sales and Marketing Officer since

January 2013 Mr Atkinson brings more than 28 years of progressive sales and marketing experience in

Information Technology with strong background in developing building and deploying international

sales and marketing strategies teams and channels As Executive Vice President of Sales and Marketing
Atkinson will be responsible for the sales and marketing management of WidePoints overall product and

services offerings He has held positions at Lenovo WinMagic IdentiPhi Gieseche Devrient Gemplus

Samsung and Hitachi

Daniel Turissini serves as the Executive Vice President and Chief Technology Officer Mr Turissini

has served as the Vice President and Chief Technology Officer of WidePoint since December 2005 Mr
Turissini has also served as the Chief Executive Officer of ORC wholly-owned subsidiary since our

acquisition of ORC on October 25 2004 Mr Turissini was founding partner of ORC in 1991 and served

as ORCs principal operating officer since its inception An innovator in systems engineering and

integration Mr Turissini has focused in the field of Information Assurance and Information Security

while at ORC While under his leadership ORC has played key systems integrator role for the DoD
Public Key Infrastructure PKI the standard information assurance program being implemented across all

branches of the DoD From 1982 until 1991 Mr Turissini held various systems engineering and

acquisition management positions in support of the U.S Federal Government with variety of companies

including Tracor Applied Sciences Inc National Technologies Associates Inc and Gibbs and Cox Inc

From 1981 to 1982 Mr Turissini served in the Merchant Marine on various vessels as Engineer and

Mate Mr Turissini is graduate of the U.S Merchant Marine Academy with Bachelor of Science

Degree in Engineering and holds Masters of Engineering Administration from The George Washington

University

Michael Mansouri has served as the Chief Executive Officer of WSC wholly-owned subsidiary of

the Company since our strategic acquisition of the Avalon Global Solutions Inc AGS
communications management business on December 31 2011 In March 2013 Mr Mansouri was

appointed Executive Vice President Corporate Development Commercial and International Markets

Prior to the acquisition of AGS Mr Mansouri served as their Chief Executive Officer Mr Mansoun has

over 20 years of professional experience in the high tech business sector and corporate finance serving in

critical roles such as sales and marketing and channel development raising capital building sales

channels scaling companies to profitability successfully conducting MA and IPO activities
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Prior to joining AGS in 2009 Mr Mansouri joined OmniTrust Security Systems as president and

CEO in 2002 and sold the company in 2005 to Heisei Denden of Japan From 2006-2009 Mr Mansouri

served on several advisory boards of start-up companies From 1999 and 2001 Mr Mansouri served as

chairman president and CEO of iPass Inc In 1998 he became COO of broadband services at Teleglobe

Business Solutions premier provider of global remote access services From 1985 to 1995 Mr Mansouri

where he held host of senior management positions in sales and marketing at Sprint International From

1997 to 1998 Mr Mansouri was responsible for enhanced data services at Intermedia Communications

and led the acquisition of Digex Mr Mansouri earned succession of degrees including B.S in Computer

Science and Statistics from Utah State University MS in Management Sciences from George Washington

University Omega Rho and the MIT Sloan School of Management program in corporate strategy

Lieutenant General Ret Otto Guenther has served as director since his appointment on August

15 2007 General Guenther serves as member of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee

He joined the Board after distinguished 34-year military career including serving as the Armys first

chief information officer followed by nearly decade of exceptional leadership within the federal

information technology industry His key assignments included the following commanding general for

Fort Monmouth NJ and the Communications Electronics Command program executive officer for the

Armys tactical communications equipment project manager for the Tactical Automated Data

Distribution System and commander for the Defense Federal Acquisition Regulatory Council General

Guenther recently retired from Northrop Grumman Mission Systems where he served as the Sector Vice

President and General Manager of Tactical Systems Division While there he oversaw battlefield

digitization command and control and system engineering activities for the U.S Army Under his

leadership the division grew to approximately 1650 employees across several locations and completed

over $700 million in acquisitions Previously General Guenther was general manager of Computer

Associates Internationals Federal Systems Group $300 million operation providing IT products and

services to the federal market area General Guenther was awarded several honors by the U.S Army

including the Distinguished Service Medal Legion of Merit Oak Leaf Cluster Defense Superior Service

Medal Oak Leaf Cluster Joint Service Medal and Army Commendation Medal Recognized for his

work within the industry he also received several Armed Forces Communications and Electronics

Association awards and was inducted into the Government Computer News Hall of Fame General

Guenther received Bachelor of Science Degree in Economics from Western Maryland College now

called McDaniel College and Masters Degree in Procurement and Contracting from the Florida Institute

of Technology

General Guenther brings to the Board extensive knowledge of the federal marketplace as result of

career that has spanned both military and informational technology industries In addition General

Guenthers knowledge of federal infrastructure as well as experience in successful business development

and board service is particularly valuable to the Company This experience as well as his independence

from the Company and his prior performance as Board member led the Board to conclude that he

should continue to serve as director of the Company

Major General Ret George Norwood has served as director since his appointment on August

15 2007 General Norwood serves as member of the Audit Committee and the Compensation

Committee General Norwood also currently serves on the boards of directors of Airborne Tactical

Advantage Company and Scalable Network Technologies He is also on the board of strategic advisors of

AtHoc Inc General Norwood brings to the Board extensive knowledge of the federal marketplace as

result of distinguished 30-year military career and more than 12-years in the commercial market with

significant experience in both military and defense contracting
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General Norwood is currently President and Chief Executive Officer of Norwood Associates Inc

of Tampa Fla which maintains extensive international and U.S networks of government military and

private sector contacts while providing technical and strategic planning expertise to corporations pursuing

defense-related opportunities General Norwood previously served as Deputy Chief of Staff for the United

Nations Command and United States Forces in Korea from 1995 to 1997 He also served as the U.S

member of the United Nations Commands Military Armistice Commission responsible for crucial general

officer level negotiations with North Korea

General Norwood received Bachelor of Science Degree in Mathematics from San Diego State

University and Masters Degree in Business Administration from Golden Gate University He is also

graduate of the National War College and Defense Language Institute

General Norwoods experience supporting the federal infrastructure as well as his experience in

successful business development and board service is particularly valuable to the Company This

experience as well as his independence from the Company and his prior performance as Board member

led the Board to conclude that he should continue to serve as director of the Company

James Ritter has served as director since December 1999 and served as Assistant Secretary of

the Company from December 2002 until 2008 Mr Ritter is the Chairman of the Corporate Governance

and Nominating Committee and the Compensation Committee and is also member of the Audit

Committee Mr Ritter is the retired Corporate Headquarters Chief Information Officer of Lockheed

Martin Corporation Prior to his retirement in February 2001 Mr Ritter was employed at Lockheed

Martin Corporation for over 32 years in various positions involving high level IT strategic planning and

implementation e-commerce development integrated financial systems and large-scale distributed

systems

Mr Ritter brings to the Board extensive knowledge of information systems and managerial

experience as result of career managing and building complex information technology systems This

experience as well as his independence from the Company his prior performance as Board member

and his service on other boards of directors led the Board to conclude that he should continue to serve as

director of the Company

Morton Taubman has served as director since his appointment on March 10 2006 to serve out

the remaining term of G.W Norman Wareham who resigned his position on March 2006 Mr
Taubman is also the Chairman of the Audit Committee and is member of the Compensation Committee

and the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee Mr Taubman has experience as certified

public accountant and is currently an attorney with expertise in corporate law government contracting and

international relations Prior to forming Leser Hunter Taubman Taubman law finn Mr Taubman was

the senior vice president and general counsel to DIGICON Corporation an IT and telecommunications

company Before joining DIGICON he was senior partner at Ginsburg Feldman and Bress LLP an

established Washington D.C firm that provided expertise in tax telecommunications litigation federal

regulatory issues capital reformation government contracting and international issues Before that he

was founding partner at number of law firms was the partner-in-charge of the Washington D.C office

of Laventhol Harworth in charge of the Washington D.C tax department at Coopers Lybrand and

special agent with the U.S Treasury Department Mr Taubman has been an adjunct law professor for

more than 15 years at Georgetown University and George Washington University He presently also

serves as special corporate counsel to Global Options Group Inc and Global Options Inc companies

focusing on U.S federal security services and as general counsel to Interior Systems Inc dlb/a ISI

Professional Services United States federal contractor He holds Bachelor of Science Degree in
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Accounting from the University of Baltimore Juris Doctor Degree from the University of Baltimore

Law School and Masters of Law Degree from Georgetown University

Mr Taubman brings to the Board financial expertise and is qualified as an audit committee financial

expert Mr Taubman also brings to the Board wealth of experience as financial and legal professional

serving as partner at both major auditing and legal firms This experience as well as his independence

from the Company and his prior performance as Board member led the Board to conclude that he

should serve as director of the Company

Our executive officers serve at the discretion of the board of directors

There are no family relationships among any of our executive officers or directors

Code of Ethics

The Companys Board of Directors has code of ethics and business conduct for the chief executive

and principal financial and accounting officers The Company has posted copy of the code on its

website located at www.widepoint.com

Audit Committee

The Company has an Audit Committee The Audit Committee has been established in accordance with

Section 3a58A of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 The primary functions of this Committee

are to appoint subject to shareholder approval and be directly responsible for the compensation

retention and oversight of the firm that will serve as the Companys independent accountants to audit our

financial statements and to perform services related to the audit including the resolution of disagreements

between management and the independent accountants regarding financial reporting review the scope

and results of the audit with the independent accountants review with management and the independent

accountants prior to the filing thereof the annual and interim financial results including Managements
Discussion and Analysis to be included in our Forms 10-K and 10-Q respectively consider the adequacy

and effectiveness of our internal accounting controls and auditing procedures review approve and

thereby establish procedures for the receipt retention and treatment of complaints received by WidePoint

regarding accounting internal accounting controls or auditing matters and for the confidential anonymous

submission by employees of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters review and

approve related person transactions in accordance with the policies and procedures of the Company and

consider the accountants independence and establish policies and procedures for pre-approval of all audit

and non-audit services provided to WidePoint by the independent accountants who audit its financial

statements

The members of the Audit Committee are

Morton Taubman Chair
James Ritter

George Norwood

The Audit Committee met four times in 2012 At each meeting Committee members may meet

privately with representatives of Moss Adams LLP our independent accountants and with WidePoint

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer The Board has determined that Mr Taubman who

qualifies as an independent director as defined in the NYSE MKT Company Guide satisfies the
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financially sophisticated requirements set forth in the NYSE MKT Company Guide and has designated

Mr Taubman as the audit committee financial expert as such term is defined in the rules and

regulations of the SEC

Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16a of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended requires the Companys officers

and directors and persons who own more than 10% of registered class of the Companys equity

securities to file reports
of securities ownership and changes in such ownership with the Securities and

Exchange Commission Statements of Changes in Beneficial Ownership of Securities on Form are

generally required to be filed before the end of the second business day following the day on which the

change in beneficial ownership occurred Based on the Companys review of Forms and filed during

2012 all such Forms and Forms were filed on timely basis except for two late Form 4s filed by Jin

Kang

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table contains information about the Chief Executive Officer and the two other most

highly paid executive officers whose total compensation earned during 2012 exceeded $100000

Summary Executive Compensation Table

Other

Discrefionaiy Equity AanIs Coneasation Total

Nan andPrincipal Position Year Base Salaiy Boni Conçensation

StewKotmr3 2012 255000 7200 262200

ClfExecutiw 0fler Director aiil 2011 230000 7200 237200

Chaiimn of fr Boani

JansMcCubbii4 2012 255000 7200 262200

ExectwVkePresilent ChfFiil 2011 230000 7200 237200

0ffer Secretaiy Treasurer aixi Diector

JiiKang5 2012 250000 20000 270000

Executive Vre Presilent Cbf 2011 250000 250000

Operatxes 0ffer

There were no equity awards granted to executive officers of the Company during fiscal 2012 or 2011

For both fiscal 2012 and 2011 includes monthly home office and phone allowance of $600 for Mr Komar

and Mr McCubbin

Mr Komars annual salary was increased pursuant to his employment agreement with the Company dated

August 13 2010

Mr McCubbins annual salary was increased pursuant to his employment agreement with the Company

dated August 13 2010

Mr Kangs annual salary is pursuant to his employment agreement with the Company dated November 27

2012
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table sets forth information on outstanding equity awards held by the named executive

officers at December 31 2012 including the number of shares underlying both vested exercisable and

non-vested portions of each stock option and award as well as the exercise price and expiration date of

each outstanding equity award

_________ Option Aanls _____ ______ Stock AnIs
Equity Incentive Equity Equity

Plan Ards Incentive Plan Incentive Plan

Numberof Numberof Numberof Aan1s AnIs
Securities Securities Securities Unearned Market or

Underlying Underlying Underlying Shares or Payout Value of

Unexercised Unexercised Unexercised Option Option other Rights Unearned

Options Options Unearned Options Exercise Expiration that have not Shares or

Name Exercisable Unexercisable
______________

Price Date Vested Rights that

Steve Konr Chief Executive

Officer Director and Chairnin of the 250000 92.500

Board

Janies MeCubbin Executive Vice

President ChiefFinancnd Officer

Secretary Treasurer and Director

250000 92500

Jin Kang Executive Vice President

ChiefOperations Officer Chief
315000 $0.54 1/4/2013

Executive Officer and President of iSYS

LLC

Equity incentive plan awards unearned represent restricted stock awards which vest on the seventh anniversary

oil the date of grant

Options expired without being exercised on January 2013

Employment Agreements and Compensation Arrangements
Termination and Change in Control Provisions

The following describes the terms of employment agreements between the Company and the named

executive officers included in the above Summary Compensation Table and sets forth information

regarding potential payments upon termination of employment or change in control of the Company
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Mr Komar On August 13 2010 we entered into an employment agreement with Steve Komar our

Chief Executive Officer and President effective as of July 2010 which replaced Mr Komar prior

employment agreement dated July 2002 which expired by its terms on June 30 2010 The new

employment agreement had an initial term expiring on June 30 2012 with one twelve-month renewal

option period which we exercised on June 27 2012 and extended the expiration term to June 30 2013

The agreement provides for base salary of $255000 home office/automobile expense

allowance of $600 per month to cover such expenses incurred in the pursuit of our business phone

allowance of $100 per month to cover such expenses incurred in the pursuit of our business

reimbursement for additional actual business expenses consistent with our existing policies that have been

incurred for our benefit paid medical and other benefits consistent with our existing policies with

respect to our key executives as such policies may be amended from time to time in the future and

performance incentive bonuses as may be granted annually at the discretion of the Compensation

Committee of the Board

The employment agreement contains severance provision which provides that upon the termination

of his employment without Cause as described below or his voluntary resignation for Good Reason as

described below Mr Komar will receive severance compensation equal to the greater of an amount

equal to twelve 12 months of his base salary then in effect or an amount equal to Mr Komar base

salary for the remainder of the term of the employment agreement The employment agreement further

provides that if within two years after change in control of the Company there occurs any termination of

Mr Komar for any reason other than for Cause or voluntary resignation without Good Reason then

the Company will be required to pay to Mr Komar one time severance payment equal to the greater of

an amount equal to eighteen 18 months of his base salary then in effect or an amount equal to

Mr Komar base salary for the remainder of the term of the employment agreement If Mr Komar

employment terminates for any reason other than for Cause or voluntary retirement without Good

Reason Mr Komar will be eligible to participate at the Companys expense in all executive medical and

dental plans provided by the Company for the remainder of the term of the employment agreement Mr
Komar will receive payment equal to any excise income and other taxes resulting from the imposition

of parachute penalties of the Internal Revenue Code or applicable state tax law

Termination of Mr Komars employment by the Company shall be deemed for Cause if and only if

it is based upon conviction of felony by federal or state court of competent jurisdiction ii material

disloyalty to the Company such as embezzlement or misappropriation of corporate assets or iii engaging

in unethical or illegal behavior which is of public nature brings the Company into disrepute and results

in material damage to the Company resignation by Mr Komar shall not be deemed to be voluntary and

shall be deemed to be resignation with Good Reason if it is based upon diminution in Mr
Komars title duties or salary ii material reduction in benefits iii direction by the Board of

Directors that Mr Komar report to any person or group other than the Board of Directors or iv
geographic relocation of the Companys primary business operations outside of the Washington

Metropolitan Area

In the event of the death or permanent disability of Mr Komar Mr Komar or his estate will receive

one time payment equal to the amount of base salary owed to Mr Komar for the remainder of the term as

if the employment agreement had not been terminated by Mr Komars disability or death and all granted

but unvested stock options shall be immediately vested and the period of exercise extended for an

additional years
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Mr McCubbin On August 13 2010 we entered into an employment agreement with James

McCubbin our Executive Vice President Chief Financial Officer Secretary and Treasurer effective as of

July 2010 which replaced Mr McCubbins prior employment agreement dated July 2002 which

expired by its terms on June 30 2010 The employment agreement has an initial term expiring on June

30 2012 with one twelve-month renewal option period which we exercised on June 27 2012 and

extended the expiration term to June 30 2013 The agreement provides for base salary of $255000

home office/automobile expense allowance of $600 per month to cover such expenses incurred in the

pursuit of our business phone allowance of $100 per month to cover such expenses incurred in the

pursuit of our business reimbursement for additional actual business expenses consistent with our

existing policies that have been incurred for our benefit paid medical and other benefits consistent

with our existing policies with respect to our key executives as such policies may be amended from time

to time in the future and performance incentive bonuses as may be granted annually at the discretion

of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors

The employment agreement contains severance provision which provides that upon the termination

of his employment without Cause as described below or his voluntary resignation for Good Reason as

described below Mr McCubbin will receive severance compensation equal to the greater of an

amount equal to twelve 12 months of his base salary then in effect or an amount equal to Mr
McCubbins base salary for the remainder of the term of the employment agreement The employment

agreement further provides that if within two years after change in control of the Company there occurs

any termination of Mr McCubbin for any reason other than for Cause or voluntary resignation without

Good Reason then the Company will be required to pay to Mr McCubbin one time severance payment

equal to the greater of an amount equal to eighteen 18 months of his base salary then in effect or

an amount equal to Mr McCubbins base salary for the remainder of the term of the employment

agreement If Mr McCubbins employment terminates for any reason other than for Cause or voluntary

retirement without Good Reason Mr McCubbin will be eligible to participate at the Companys expense

in all executive medical and dental plans provided by the Company for the remainder of the term of the

employment agreement Mr McCubbin will receive payment equal to any excise income and other

taxes resulting from the imposition of parachute penalties of the Internal Revenue Code or applicable state

tax law

Termination of Mr McCubbins employment by the Company shall be deemed for Cause if and

only if it is based upon conviction of felony by federal or state court of competent jurisdiction ii

material disloyalty to the Company such as embezzlement or misappropriation of corporate assets or iii

engaging in unethical or illegal behavior which is of public nature brings the Company into disrepute

and results in material damage to the Company resignation by Mr McCubbin shall not be deemed to

be voluntary and shall be deemed to be resignation with Good Reason if it is based upon

diminution in Mr McCubbins title duties or salary ii material reduction in benefits iii direction

by the Board of Directors that Mr McCubbin report to any person or group other than the Board of

Directors or iv geographic relocation of the Companys primary business operations outside of the

Washington Metropolitan Area

In the event of the death or permanent disability of Mr McCubbin Mr McCubbin or his estate will

receive one time payment equal to the amount of base salary owed to Mr McCubbin for the remainder

of the term as of the employment agreement had not been terminated by Mr McCubbins disability or

death and all granted but unvested stock options shall be immediately vested and the period of exercise

extended for an additional years
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Mr Kang On November 27 2012 we entered into an employment agreement with Jin Kang our

Executive Vice President and Chief Executive Officer of iSYS LLC and Chief Operations Officer

effective as of June 30 2012 which replaced Mr Kangs prior employment agreement dated January

2008 which expired by its terms on June 30 2012 The Agreement provides for base salary of

$250000 per year reimbursement for business expenses consistent with our existing policies that have

been incurred for our benefit paid medical and other benefits consistent with our existing policies with

respect to our key executives as such policies may be amended from time to time in the future and

performance bonus opportunity of up to $175000 per year at the discretion of the Compensation

Committee of the Board of Directors

Mr Kangs employment period will continue from the date of his agreement until he is terminated

either by Mr Kangs death or permanent disability which renders Mr Kang unable to perform his

duties hereunder as determined by the Company in its good faith judgment by Mr Kangs

resignation commencing from and after the first anniversary date of this Agreement or any additional

Option period exercised by the Company upon prior written notice to the Company of ninety 90 days

before the annual anniversary date of this Agreement or the Company for Cause Termination of Mr

Kangs employment shall be deemed for Cause upon the repeated failure or refusal of Mr Kang to

follow the lawful directives of the Company or its designee except due to sickness injury or disabilities

after prior notice to Mr Kang and reasonable opportunity to cure by Mr Kang for up to thirty 30 days

ii gross inattention to duty or any other willful reckless or grossly negligent act or omission to act by

Mr Kang which in the good faith judgment of the Company materially injures the Company including

the repeated failure to follow the policies and procedures of the Company after
prior written notice to

Employee and reasonable opportunity to cure by Mr Kang of up to thirty 30 days iii material

breach of this Agreement by Mr Kang after prior written notice to Mr Kang and reasonable

opportunity to cure by Mr Kang of up to thirty 30 days iv the commission by Mr Kang of felony or

other crime involving moral turpitude or the commission by Mr Kang of an act of financial dishonesty

against the Company or proper business purpose of the Company which shall be limited to the

elimination of the position filled by Mr Kang as result of material decrease in revenues and/or profits

of the Company but with other cost cutting measures and the termination of other employees being first

considered and instituted as determined in the sole judgment of the Company prior to the termination of

Mr Kang provided however that in the event the Company terminates Mr Kang then the scope of

the non-compete shall be limited to the products and services offered by the Company as of the

termination of Mr Kang and II the Company shall pay to Mr Kang continuation of Gross Salary and

benefits each month for the six month period immediately following such termination

Director Compensation

Directors who are not also officers or employees receive an annual fee of $12000 The following

table sets forth director compensation for 2012

Fees Earned Option AllOther

or Paid AanIs Compensation

Director Name Total

Jans Ritter 12000 12000

Morton Taubnn 12000 12000

George Norwood 12000 12000

Otto Guenther 12000 12000
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ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND

MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners Greater than 5% Holders

The following table sets forth information as to those holders other than officers and directors known

to WidePoint to be the beneficial owners of more than 5% based on 63751857 outstanding shares of

Common Stock as of March 30 2013

Number of Percent of

Shares of Common Stock

Names and Complete Mailing Address Common Stock Outstanding

Citigroup Inc Citigroup Global Markets Inc 3316 424 52%

Citlgroup Financial Products Inc

and Citgroup Global Markets Holdings Inc

388 3reenwEh Street

New York NY 10013

IlexPariners LLC 4751618 75%
Steinhardt Overseas Management and

Michael Steinhardt

650 Madison Avenue 17th Floor

New York New York 10022

Citigroup mc Citigroup Global Markets Citigroup Financial Products Inc and Citigroup Global Markets

Holdings Inc have no sole voting power in respect of the shares listed above shared voting power in respect of all shares

listed above no sole dispositive power in respect of the shares listed above and shared dispositive power in respect of all

the shares listed above Information based solely on Schedule 13GIA filed with the SEC on February 2012

Ilex Partners L.L.C Steinhardt Overseas Management L.P and Michael Steinhardt have no sole voting

power in respect of the shares listed above shared voting power in respect of the shares listed above no sole dispositive

power in respect of the shares listed above and shared dispositive power in respect of all the shares listed above

Information based solely on Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 2013

Security Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers

The following table sets forth the number of shares of our Common Stock beneficially owned as of

March 30 2013 with respect to the beneficial ownership of Common Stock by each director director

nominee and each executive officer named in the Summary Compensation Table herein In general

beneficial ownership includes those shares director or executive officer has the power to vote or

transfer except as otherwise noted and shares underlying warrants and stock options that are exercisable

currently or within 60 days The calculation of the percentage of outstanding shares is based on

63751857 shares outstanding as of March 30 2013
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Number of Percent of

Directors Nominees Shares of Common Stock

and Executive Officers Common Stock Outstanding

Steve Konr 2102803 3.3%

Morton Taubnn 62000

Jans McCubbin 1870203 2.9%

Jans Ritter 140500

Dan1Tursini6 1192471 1.9%

Ronald Oxley 133000

JinKang8 3190344 5.0%

Otto Guentber 62000

George Norwood 10 62000

Mhae1 Mansouri 11 50797

Afl directors ai oers 8866118 13.9%

as group 11 persons 12

Indicates ownership percentage is less than 1.0%

Assumes in the case of each shareholder listed above that all warrants or options held by such shareholder that are

exercisable currently or within 60 days of March 30 2013 were fully exercised by such shareholder without the exercise of any

warrants or options held by any other shareholders

Includes 1309700 shares owned directly by Mr Komar excludes 250000 shares of unvested restricted stock awards

not vesting within 60 days and ii 793103 shares held by SLK Diversified L.P limited partnership controlled by Mr

Komar as result of which such shares are held by Mr Komar indirectly

Includes 62000 shares subject to exercisable options to purchase shares from the Company

Includes 1870203 shares owned directly by Mr McCubbin excludes 250000 shares of unvested restricted stock awards

not vesting within 60 days

Includes 65500 shares owned directly by Mr Ritter ii 50000 shares of Common Stock that may be purchased by him

at price of $0.13 per
share through December 31 2013 under an option granted on December 31 2003 and iii 25000

shares of Common Stock that may be purchased at price of $0.54 per share through May 11 2019 under an option granted on

May 11 2009

Includes 722471 shares owned directly by Mr Turissini and ii 470000 shares subject to exercisable options to

purchase shares from the Company

Includes 71000 shares owned directly by Mr Oxley ii 62000 shares subject to exercisable options to purchase shares

from the Company and iii excludes from shares owned 250000 unearned options to purchase shares from the Company at

price of $0.83 per share until July 25 2018 pursuant to stock option granted on May 11 2009

Includes 2875344 shares owned directly by Mr Kang and ii excludes 315000 options to purchase shares from the

Company that expired unexercised on January 2013

Includes 62000 shares subject to exercisable options to purchase shares from the Company

10 Includes 62000 shares subject to exercisable options to purchase shares from the Company

11 Includes 50797 shares owned directly by Mr Mansouri and ii excludes from shares owned 100000 unearned and

unvested options to purchase shares from the Company at price of $0.69 per share until January 2018 pursuant to stock

option granted on January 2012

l2Includes the shares referred to as included in notes through 11 above
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth information as of December 31 2012 with respect to the Companys

compensation plans under which its Common Stock is authorized for issuance

Number of Secuntles

Number of Secunties remaining available

to be issued upon Weighted average for future issuance

exercise of exercise pnce of excluding secunties

Directors Nonunees outstanding options outstanding options reflected

and Executive Officers mnts and nghts annts and nghts colunm

Eqtuty Conensation Phns

Approved by security Ixklers 3212000 074 4206049

Notappmdbysecurlxklcrs

Total 3212000 74 4206049
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ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENCE

related person transaction is consummated or currently proposed transaction in which the

Company has been is or will be participant and the amount involved exceeds $120000 and in which

related person i.e any director or executive officer or nominee for director or any member of the

immediate family of such person has or will have direct or indirect material interest

The Company was not participant in any related person transactions in the past two fiscal years and

no such transactions are currently proposed

Under the Companys corporate governance principles the Corporate Governance Principles

majority of the Companys Board will consist of independent directors An independent director is

director who meets the NYSE MKT definition of independence and other applicable independence

standards under SEC guidelines as determined by the Board The Companys Corporate Governance and

Nominating Committee conduct an annual review of the independence of the members of the Board and

its Committees and report
its findings to the full Board of Directors Based on the report and

recommendation of the Corporate Governance Committee the Board has determined that each of the

Companys non-employee directorsMessrs Taubman Ritter Guenther and Norwoodsatisfies the

independence criteria including the enhanced criteria with respect to members of the Audit Committee

set forth in the applicable NYSE MKT listing standards and SEC rules Each Board Committee consists

entirely of independent non-employee directors

Non-management members of the Board of Directors conduct at least two regularly-scheduled

meetings per year without members of management being present Mr Ritter serves as the presiding

director of such meetings Following an executive session of non-employee directors the presiding

director may act as liaison between the non-employee directors and the Chairman provide the Chairman

with input regarding agenda items for Board of Directors and Committee meetings and coordinate with

the Chairman regarding information to be provided to the non-employee directors in performing their

duties

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The following table sets forth fees paid to our principal accountants in connection with audit and

audit-related tax and other non-audit fees for the years ended December 31

Service Type 2012 2011

Audit aud Quarterly RevEw Fees 144846 154196

Audit-Related Fees

Tax Fees

AllOtherFees 21985

Total 144846 176181

1The Company paid non-audit fees in 2011 in connection with regulatory filing compliance procedures and income tax

accounting procedures

43



Audit Committee Policies and Procedures For Pre-Approval of Independent Auditor Services

The following describes the Audit Committees policies and procedures regarding pre-approval of the

engagement of the Companys independent auditor to perform audit as well as permissible non-audit

services for the Company

For audit services the independent auditor will provide the Committee with an engagement letter

during the March-May quarter of each year outlining the scope of the audit services proposed to be

performed in connection with the audit of the current fiscal year If agreed to by the Committee the

engagement letter will be formally accepted by the Committee at an Audit Committee meeting held as

soon as practicable following receipt
of the engagement letter The independent auditor will submit to the

Committee for approval an audit services fee proposal after acceptance of the engagement letter

For non-audit services Company management may submit to the Committee for approval during

May through September of each fiscal year the list of non-audit services that it recommends the

Committee engage the independent auditor to provide for the fiscal year The list of services must be

detailed as to the particular service and may not call for broad categorical approvals Company

management and the independent auditor will each confirm to the Audit Committee that each non-audit

service on the list is permissible under all applicable legal requirements In addition to the list of planned

non-audit services budget estimating non-audit service spending for the fiscal year may be provided

The Committee will consider for approval both the list of permissible non-audit services and the budget

for such services The Committee will be informed routinely as to the non-audit services actually

provided by the independent auditor pursuant to this pre-approval process

To ensure prompt handling of unexpected matters the Audit Committee delegates to its Chairman the

authority to amend or modify the list of approved permissible non-audit services and fees The Chairman

will report any action taken pursuant to this delegation to the Committee at its next meeting

All audit and non-audit services provided to the Company are required to be pre-approved by the

Committee The Chief Financial Officer of the Company will be responsible for tracking all independent

auditor fees against the budget for such services and report at least annually to the Audit Committee
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule

Financial Statements

Report of Moss Adams LLP Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2012 and 2011

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31 2012 and 2011

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders Equity for the Years Ended December 31
2012 and 2011

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow for the Years Ended December 31 2012 and 2011

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

All other schedules are omitted either because they are not applicable or not required or because

the required information is included in the financial statements or notes thereto

Exhibits The following exhibits are filed herewith or incorporated herein by reference

2.1 Membership Interest Purchase Agreement dated as of January 22008 between the Company iSYS LLC and Jin

Kang Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on

January 2008

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of WidePoint Corporation Incorporated herein by reference

to Exhibit to the Registrants Definitive Proxy Statement as filed on December 27 2004

3.2 Bylaws of ZMAX Corporation Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.6 to the Registrants Registration

Statement on Form S-4 File No 333-29833

10.1 Employment and Non-Compete Agreement dated as of November 27 2012 between the Company WidePoint

Corporation and un Kang Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Current Report

on Form 8-K filed on November 27 2012

10.2 Supplement to Exhibit to the Membership Interest Purchase Agreement dated as of August 14 2009

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-KIA filed on

August 18 2009

10.3 Employment Agreement between WidePoint Corporation and Steve Komar dated August 13 2010

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on

August 16 2010

10.4 Employment Agreement between WidePoint Corporation and James McCubbin dated August 13 2010

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed on

August 16 2010
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10.5 Debt Modification Agreement dated September 16 2011 by and among the Registrant and its subsidiaries and

Cardinal Bank Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K

filed on October 2011

10.6 Asset Purchase Agreement dated December 30 2011 by and among the Registrant Avalon Global Solutions

Inc Michael Mansouri Joseph Chopek David Russie Mark Goettling Marshall Weingarden and Steven

Rottinghaus Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K

filed on January 2012

10.7 $1000000 Subordinated Secured Promissory Note dated as of December 31 2011 between the Registrant and

its subsidiaries and Avalon Global Solutions Inc Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 2012

10.8 $3000000 Subordinated Secured Promissory Note dated as of December 31 2011 between the Registrant and

its subsidiaries and Avalon Global Solutions Inc Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the

Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 2012

10.9 $4000000 Commercial Term Loan Agreement dated as of December 31 2011 between the Registrant and its

subsidiaries and Cardinal Bank Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibits 10.3 and 10.5 to the Registrants

Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 2012

10.10 $8000000 Commercial Revolving Loan Agreement dated as of December 31 2011 between the Registrant and

its subsidiaries and Cardinal Bank Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 and 10.6 to the Registrants

Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 2012

10.11 Credit Security Agreement dated as of December 31 2011 between the Registrant and its subsidiaries and

Cardinal Bank Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K

filed on January 2012

10.12 Employment Agreement between WidePoint Corporation and Michael Mansouri dated December 31 2011

Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January

2012

21 Subsidiaries of WidePoint Corporation Filed herewith

23.1 Consent of Moss Adams LLP Filed herewith

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Filed

herewith

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Filed

herewith

32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002 Filed herewith

101 Interactive Data Files

101 INS XBRL Instance Document

101 SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101 CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101 DEF XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document
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101 LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101 PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Management contract or compensatory plan
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused this

report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

WidePoint Corporation

Date March 30 2013 s/ STEVE KOMAR
Steve Komar

Chief Executive Officer

Date March 30 2013 /s/ JAMES MCCUBBIN
James McCubbin

Executive Vice President Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Dated March 30 2013 /s/STEVE KOMAR
Steve Komar

Director and Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer

Dated March 30 2013 /s/JAMES MCCUBBIN
James McCubbin

Director Executive Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer

Dated March 30 2013 /s/JAMES RITTER

James Ritter

Director

Dated March 30 2013 /s/MORTON TAUBMAN
Morton Taubman

Director

Dated March 30 2013 /s/RON OXLEY
Ron Oxley

Director

Dated March 302013 /s/OTTO GUENTHER
Otto Guenther

Director

Dated March 302013 /s/GEORGE NORWOOD

George Norwood

Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of WidePoint Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of WidePoint Corporation and

subsidiaries as of December 31 2012 and 2011 and the related consolidated statements of operations

stockholders equity and cash flows for the years then ended These consolidated financial statements are

the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion of these

consolidated financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement The

Company is not required to have nor were we engaged to perform an audit of its internal control over

financial reporting Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as basis

for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting

Accordingly we express no such opinion An audit includes examining on test basis evidence

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the

overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our

opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material

respects the financial position of WidePoint Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31 2012 and

2011 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

Is/Moss Adams LLP

Scottsdale Arizona

March 30 2013
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WIDEPOINT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets

DECEMBER 31

2012 2011

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash eqwvaients 857 614 035 343

Accounts receivable net ofai1owame lir doubtfiul accounts

of$76 886 ami$61 584 in2012 ax12011 respectively 932 366 858 902

Unbilled accounts receivable 969 450 406

Jiwentories 286 920 167 992

Prepa expenses and other assets 482389 614870
1ncoii taxes recewable 138 575

Deibrred incoir taxes 473430 473430

Totalcurrentassets 13140744 13865943

NONCURRENT ASSETS
Property and equipnnt net 428 323 336 134

Intangibles net 4969241 6229227
Goodwill 16618467 16618467
Deii-red fl1COIT tax asset net ofcurrent 346 948 265 125

Deposits and other assets 76 941

TOTALASSETS 39579841 $41396837

IJABLLrrIES AND STQCia1QLDERS DEFICIT

CIJRRNT LIADJIITIES
Short term ite payable 113 018 100 951

Accounts payable 5555419 8418854
Accrued expenses 539 710 808 289

Defrrred 173655 390506
Cuentportionofkug-termdebt 1102741 798319

Currentportkrn of derred rent 51196 36508
Current portion of capital lease obligations 42 878 22 908

Total current liabilities 10578617 11576335

NONCURRENT LJABIIITJLES

Long-termdebtnetofcurrentportkm 4918732 6919143
Capital lease obligatirn net of current portkrn 102244
De1rred rent net of current portion 15786 65.207
Derred revenue 25231

Deposits and otherliabilities 1964

Totalbablbties 15642574 18560685

STOCKHOL.DERS EQUITY
Connion stock $0.00 par value 110000000 shares

authorized 63751857 and 63226857 shares issued

and outstanding respectively 63752 63227
Additional paid-in capital 69 594 390 69 326 705

Accumulated deficit 45720875 46553780

Total stockholders equity 23 937 267 22 836 152

Total liabilities arid stockholders equity 39 579 841 $41 396 837

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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WIDEPOINT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations

YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER31

2012 2011

REVENUES 55782742 41 372 490

COST OF REVENUES æJuding aimrtition aixi

depreciation of$151 267 ath $649 829 respectively 41920161 32128988

GROSS PROFiT 13862581 243 502

OPERATING EXPENSES

Saks and Marketing 2741799 484 003

General and Adminisirative Costs n1udmg share-based

coirçensationof$21761 and $157459 respectively and

gain on change in irvalue of contingent obbgation of

$900000 and $0 respectively 9820695 7443197

Depreciation and Anintization 281310 211129

Total Operating Expenses 12843804 138 329

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 1018777 105 173

OTHER INCOME EXPENSE
Interest Incon 4881 12 572

Interest Expense 294244 69317
Othar Iron Expense 3200 608

Total Other Incon Expense 286163 57 353

INCOME BEFORE PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 732614 47820

INCOME TAX BENEF1T 99687 199 046

NET INCOME 832301 246 866

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE 013 004

BASIC WEIGHTED-AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING 63474871 62882 100

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 0013 0004

DILUTED WEIGHTED-AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING 63758632 64148331

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

F-3



WIDEPOINT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders Equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

F-4

Add
Conmrn Stock Stock Pail-In Accunijiated

Issued Amuiit Wairants Capial DefLi Total

BaoceJaianiy1201l 62690873 62691 $- $68754353 46800646 $22016398

Issuaiie ofconnn stock

opiiexeies 240000 240 210960 211200

Issuanx of conmrn stock

iSYS eanut 295984 296 203933

Issunoce of conimn stock

restted

Stock con ensat expense

Net non _________ ________ ________ ________

BaIne Deceither3l 2011 63226857 63227
____________ ___________

Issuaoce of conmrn stock

opti exercnes 525000 525

204229

87143 87143

70316 70316

246866 246866

_____________
69326705 46553780 22836152

50074 604 51203

Issuaae of conimn stock

restricted 87143 87143

Stock co ensatin expense 130468 130468

Net ion 832301 832301

Balance Deceniier3l 2012 63751857 63752 69594390 45720875 23937267



WIDEPOINT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

DECEMBER31

2012 2011

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net iion 832301 246 866

Adjustnnts to recoixi net mcon to it cash

provkledby operaling activits

Ddrred uon tax beit 81823 209 049

Depreciation expeie 400154 334 665

Pmvn lbr doubtthl accounts 25070

Inventoiy write-downs 52056

Anxfftmthn ofintangibles 1392423 526293

A1TxTtrzatEn ofdeIrred finaixing costs 3088 214

Share-based conensathnexpeiise 217611 157459

Gain on change in lair value ofcontiigent obhga tim 900000
Loss ondposa1ofequqnnt 667 108

Changes in assets aml Iiabihtie

Accounts recewab aixi unbiId receivabs 570883 3283 714

Inwntors 170984 107 017

Prepaid expenses aix other current assets 132481 181 229
Other assels excluding dekred nazxing costs 10735

Accounis payab aixi accrued expemes 1155681 2244464
Iixon tax payabe 138575 143450
DeJrred reveni 191620 242051
Other liabilities 1964

Net cash prov1ed by operating activities 1000750 427 059

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIViTIES

Proceeds from settleiuant of net working capital requirenrnt 76539

Purchase of property aixi equçnnt 316833 432 147

Software devebpnient costs 132437 350969
Eamout consilemtsn pasi in connectEn with prr acquisitarns 591 967

Business coithination net of cash acquired 7431174
Proceeds from tha sale of property and equipnient 750

Net cash used in investing activities 372731 805 507

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTiViTIES

Advances on bank line of credit 3031063

Repayrrients of bank line of credit advances 3031063
Issuance oflong tenn debt 4148047

Prineipal repayincnts of long term debt 794988 709535

Prineipal repaynienls under capital base obligations 53963 44 724

Unused bank line lee 500

Debt issuance costs 8000
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 51203 211 200

Net cash used in provided by financing activities 805748 597 488

NET DECREASE IN CASH 177729 780 960

CASH beginning ofpemd 2035343 816 303

CASH end ofperiod 1857614 035 343

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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WIDEPOINT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

DECEMBER31

2012 2011

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash pail lbr interest 216824 68585

Cash paid ibr æontaxes 263003

NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTWITIES

Fair value of 295984 eanxrnt shares issued as additional

consiieratin hi tha acquisition of iSYS LLC 204229

Subordinated non-contingent seIr linanced note payab issued as

consilerationintha acquisitinnofAvabnGbbalSolutkrns Inc 1000000

Fair value of subordinated contingent ser nanced note payab issued

as consideration in tha acquksition ofAvakrn Gbbal Sohflxnis Inc 2150000

Insurance poIiss financed by shart tennnotes payabis 150793 148047

Acquisitinn of assets under capital base obligation 176177

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Organization and Nature of Operations

Organization

WidePoint Corporation WidePoint or the Company was incorporated in Delaware on May 30

1997 WidePoint Corporation is provider of advanced federally certified and other customized

technology-based products and service solutions to both the government sector and commercial markets

The Companys advanced technology-based solutions enable organizations to deploy fully compliant IT

services in accordance with government requirements and the demands of the commercial marketplace

The Company has grown through the merger with and acquisition of highly specialized regional IT

consulting companies

Nature of Operations

The Company provides advanced technology-based products and solutions through three business

segments which include Managed Mobility Solutions Cybersecurity Solutions and Consulting and

Support Services These segments offer unique solutions and proprietary IP wireline and wireless full life

cycle management solutions cybersecurity solutions with an expertise in identity management services

utilizing certificate-based security solutions and other associated IT Consulting and Support Services in

which the Company provides specific subject matter expertise in IT Architecture and Planning Software

Implementation Services IT Outsourcing and Forensic Informatics See Note 15 to the consolidated

financial statements for additional information and financial results for the Companys operating

segments

Significant Accounting Policies

Basis ofPresentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America GAAP and the financial statement

rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its

wholly owned subsidiaries All significant inter-company amounts have been eliminated in consolidation

Reclassfications

The Company reclassified amounts representing inventory previously included in the caption prepaid

expenses and other assets as separate line item on the consolidated balance sheet at December 31 2011

This reclassification conforms the December 31 2011 consolidated balance sheet and consolidated

statement of cash flows presentation to the current year presentation
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Use ofEstimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the U.S requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of

the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period

The more significant areas requiring use of estimates and judgment relate to revenue recognition accounts

receivable valuation reserves ability to realize intangible assets ability to realize deferred income tax

assets and the evaluation of contingencies and litigation Management bases its estimates on historical

experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances

Actual results could differ from those estimates

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability in

an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date based on the Companys

principal or in the absence of principal most advantageous market for the specific asset or liability

GAAP provides for three-level hierarchy of inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value

defined as follows

Level Inputs that are quoted prices unadjusted for identical assets or liabilities in active markets

that the entity can access

Level Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level that are observable for the asset or

liability either directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or liability including

Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets

Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active

Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability

Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by

correlation or other means

Level Inputs that are unobservable and reflect the Companys own assumptions about the

assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on the best

information available in the circumstances e.g internally derived assumptions surrounding the timing

and amount of expected cash flows The Company did measure the fair value of contingent seller

financed promissory notes presented on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value on recurring

basis using significantly unobservable inputs Level during the years ended December 31 2012 and

2011 See Note for additional information regarding fair value of liabilities carried at fair value

The Company monitors the market conditions and evaluates the fair value hierarchy levels at least

quarterly For any transfers in and out of the levels of the fair value hierarchy the Company elects to

disclose the fair value measurement at the beginning of the reporting period during which the transfer

occurred See Note for financial assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements
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Business Combinations

The Company identifies the individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with

business combination and purchase consideration in each business combination The Company utilizes

third party valuation professionals to estimate the initial fair value of significant assets acquired and

liabilities assumed The Company assigns provisional values to purchase consideration assets acquired

and liabilities assumed on the date of purchase and may revise these provisional values if fair value

estimates prepared by outside qualified third party valuation are materially difference

The Company estimates the fair value of each using an acceptable valuation methodology which may

include an income market andlor cost approach The Company generally assesses the estimated fair value

of contingent obligations using probability weighted income approach discounted cash flow valuation

technique which requires the use of observable and unobservable inputs Fluctuations in the fair value of

contingent obligations are impacted by two unobservable inputs managements estimate of the probability

of the acquired company meeting the operating performance target and the estimated discount rate rate

that approximates the Companys weighted average cost of capital Significant increases decreases in

either of those inputs in isolation would result in significantly higher lower fair value measurement

Fair value is assessed for contingent obligations on quarterly basis until such contingencies have been

resolved and any changes in fair value are recorded as gain or loss on change in fair value of contingent

obligations within general and administrative expense

See Note for detailed description of material business combinations and see Note for changes in

fair value of assets and liabilities measured on recurring basis

Significant Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk

Customers representing ten percent or more of annual consolidated revenues are set forth in the table

below for the years ended

DECEMBER 31

2012 2011

Asa%of Asa%of

Custonr Nan Revenues Revenues

Transportation Security Adniintslration ISA 19% 23%

Departnnt ofHon1aiii Seciæy DHSt 15% 27%

F-9



Customers representing ten percent or more of consolidated trade accounts receivable and unbilled

receivables are set forth in the table below for the years ended

DECEMBER 31

2012 2011

Asa%of Asa%of

Customer Name Receivables Receivables

Transportation Security Administration ISA 12% 9%

Department of Homeland Security DHS 19% 34%

Bureau of Alcohol Tabacco and Firearms ATF 10% --

Due to the nature of the Companys business and the relative size of certain contracts which are

entered into in the ordinary course of business the loss of any single significant customer could have

material adverse effect on its results of operations

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist of cash and cash

equivalents and accounts receivable

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company maintains interest-bearing cash deposits and short-term overnight investments with

large financial institution The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities

of three months or less to be cash equivalents for purposes of these consolidated financial statements

Interest-bearing cash deposits are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation FDIC up to

maximum of $250000 At December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company had interest-bearing deposits

with large financial institution in excess of FDIC limits of approximately $2548000 and $1239000

respectively

Accounts Receivable

The majority of the Companys accounts receivable is due from the federal government and

established private sector commercial companies

Government The Company enters into standard master contract vehicles or an individual purchase

requisitions with federal and state governments and their agencies Federal contracts are bid on and

awarded based on cost plus fixed fee or fixed award fee firm fixed price or time and materials basis

Federal and state government customer orders are covered by contract vehicle or master services

agreement and specific goods and services are generally submitted through task orders or purchase

requisitions under master contract or under an individual purchase requisition
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Commercial The Company enters into standard contractual arrangements with corporations using

master service agreement and customized statement of work which outlines the product or services

purchased optional products and services and standard pricing based on volume or an hourly rate

Consulting services are charged based upon standard professional rates dependent upon level of expertise

of the professionals involved Also the Company enters into fee arrangements for which the fees earned

are based on percentage of savings or other measures as may be determined in the applicable contract

Credit is extended based on evaluation of customers financial condition and generally collateral is

not required Accounts receivable are usually due within 30 to 60 days and are stated at amounts due from

customers net of an allowance for doubtful accounts if deemed necessary Customer account balances

outstanding longer than the contractual payment terms are reviewed for collectability and after 90 days are

considered past due unless arrangements were made at the time of the transaction that specified different

payment terms Upon specific review and its determination that bad debt reserve may be required the

Company will reserve such amount if it views the account as potentially uncollectable Customer account

balances outstanding longer than 120 days are placed with third party collection agency and reserve is

established

The Company determines its allowance by considering number of factors including the length of

time accounts receivable are past due the Companys previous loss history the customers current ability

to pay its obligation to the Company and the condition of the general economy and the industry as

whole The Company writes off accounts receivable when they become uncollectible and payments

subsequently received on such receivables are credited to the allowance for doubtful accounts The

Company has not historically maintained bad debt reserve for its federal government customers as it has

not experienced any material or recurring bad debt charges and the nature and size of the contracts has not

necessitated the Companys establishment of such bad debt reserve

Un billed Accounts Receivable

Unbilled accounts receivable on time-and-materials contracts represent costs incurred and gross profit

recognized near the period-end but not billed until the following period due to contractual terms or due to

timing differences Unbilled accounts receivable on fixed-price contracts predominantly consist of third

party value added resale VAR of hardware and software products delivered but not invoiced at the end

of the reporting period Unbilled accounts receivable also consists of monthly managed services

performed but not invoiced at the end of the reporting period At December 31 2012 and 2011 unbilled

accounts receivable totaled approximately $2969000 and $2715000 respectively

Inventories

Inventories consist of hardware components that will be used in custom identity management

technology solutions and certain software licenses available for resale Inventories are valued at the lower

of cost using first-in first-out method or market The Company may record write-down for inventories

which have become obsolete or are in excess of anticipated demand or net realizable value If future

demand or market conditions for our products are less favorable than forecasted or if unforeseen

technological changes negatively impact the utility of inventory we may be required to record additional

write-downs which would adversely affect our gross profit For the years ended December 31 2012 and

2011 the Company recorded inventory write-downs related to obsolete inventory of approximately

$52000 and $0 respectively in the consolidated statements of operations within cost of revenues
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Advance Billings and Customer Payments

Deferred revenue arises from advanced customer billings as permitted under contractual arrangements

or from advanced payments from customers for monthly managed services Certain federal and state

governments and their agencies may prepay for services andlor VAR transactions in advance These

advance payments are recorded as deferred revenue and recognized as services are performed and/or

devices delivered Amounts recorded as deferred revenue are released the monthly services are complete

at the end of the month Our revenue recognition policy is below under the caption revenue

recognition

Deferred Implementation Revenues and Costs

Certain customer contracts may include an additional implementation charge to cover the cost of

programming and technician labor costs required to set up first-time communication expense management

portals and custom customer reports These costs are deferred and amortized over the estimated customer

life There were no material deferred implementation revenues or costs incurred during fiscal 2012 and

2011

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment including assets acquired under capital lease arrangements are stated at

historical cost net of accumulated depreciation and amortization Depreciation and amortization expense

is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives based upon the classification of

the property and/or equipment or lease period for assets acquired under capital lease arrangements The

estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows

Estintcd

Useflil LiI

Land aix building 20 years

Conuter hardware aix sofiware years

Furniture aix fixtures years

Mobile equipnnt years

The Company assesses the recoverability of property and equipment by determining whether the

depreciation of property and equipment over its remaining life can be recovered through projected

undiscounted future cash flows The amount of property and equipment impairment if any is measured

based on fair value and is charged to operations in the period in which property and equipment impairment

is determined by management As of December 31 2012 the Companys management has not identified

any material impairment of its property and equipment
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Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company accounts for goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets in accordance with

ASC Topic 350 Intangibles Under ASC Topic 350 goodwill and certain indefinite-lived intangible

assets are not amortized but are subject to an annual impairment test during the fourth quarter of each

year and between annual tests if indicators of potential impairment exist The Company has elected to

perform this review annually on December 1st of each calendar year See Note to the consolidated

financial statements for additional discussion about annual impairment testing

Included within other intangible assets are software development costs The Company capitalizes

costs related to software and implementation in connection with its internal use software systems

including its Public Key Infrastructure PKI certificate issuance database and application Intelligent

Telecommunications Management System ITMS and Clarity Communications Management databases

and applications and its Foresight ordering and helpdesk database and application For software

development costs or internally developed intangible assets related to software products for sale lease

or otherwise marketed significant development costs are capitalized
from the point of demonstrated

technological feasibility until the point in time that the product is available for general release to

customers Once the product is available for general release capitalized costs are amortized based on

units sold or on straight-line basis generally over six-year period or such other such shorter period as

may be required

Revenue Recognition Principles

The Company has standard internal process that is used to determine whether all required criteria for

revenue recognition have been met summary of the Companys revenue streams and specific revenue

recognition policies are as follows

Managed Mobility Solutions

Managed Services Telecommunications expense management and device management services

are delivered on monthly basis based on standard fixed pricing scale per user or device or other

service utilization metric Managed services are not interdependent and there are no undelivered

elements in these arrangements Revenue is recognized upon the completion of the delivery of

monthly managed services The Company also offers invoice management and payment services

which may subject the Company to credit risk as it is responsible for the payment of multiple

billable arrangements by and between its customer and various carriers The Company recognizes

revenues and related costs on gross basis for these arrangements as it has discretion in choosing

providers rate plans and devices in providing the services to its customers For arrangements in

which the Company does not have such credit risk it recognizes revenues and related costs on

net basis
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Software Licenses The Company offers standalone telecommunication expense management

software instance under perpetual license agreement with no right or obligation to provide

subsequent maintenance updates or modifications Under these arrangements the customer is

required to electronically download their unique software instance and host access to their software

instance within their technology environment There is no agreement to provide post contract

support services The earnings process is generally complete upon issuance or delivery of the

software instance The Company offers implementation services that are customized services that

are not included in the price of the software instance Revenue is recognized for implementation

services based billable rates times hours incurred plus direct materials and other reimbursable costs

incurred to provide services

Value Added Reseller Services The Company procures and resells telecommunication services

and devices to the customer and recognizes revenue upon delivery and bills the customer at cost

plus applicable contractual fees earned The Company bears significant risk as it exercises

significant discretion in establishing technical requirements and choosing equipment and as such

recognizes revenues and related costs on gross basis Hardware elements are separately procured

and priced through third party vendors who deal in such equipment Revenue is recognized upon

delivery of the product or service

Compliance Services The Company provides variety
of telecommunication management

consulting services and charges fee for time and materials incurred or contingent-fee based on

expected savings or other metric determined Services performed include permission based audits

accounts payable audits and compliance reviews Revenue on time and material arrangements is

recognized to the extent of billable rates times hours delivered plus material and other

reimbursable costs incurred to deliver consulting services Revenue on contingent-fee

arrangements are recognized upon customer acceptance of proposed billing

Cybersecurity Solutions

Managed Credentialing Services The Company provides its proprietary PM identity credentialing

software certificates issued by the Company to individuals Certificates issued have fixed life

and cannot be modified or reissued There is no obligation to provide post contract services in

relation to certificates issued Revenue is recognized from the sales of credentials upon issuance

PM Credentialing Consoles PM credentialing provided as customer driven solution involves

the bulk sale of fixed number of individual software certificates and may include consoles which

are delivered to the customer and issued by the customer Certificates issued have fixed life and

cannot be modified or reissued There is no obligation to provide post contract services in relation

to certificates issued and consoles delivered Revenue is recognized upon delivery of the

credentials andlor consoles when there are no other additional deliverables Cost of Revenues

includes general infrastructure support costs to maintain the continued issuance of credentials
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Consulting Services and Products

Value Added Reseller Services The Company procures and resells third party hardware/software

products and maintenance services under cost-reimbursable contracts The Company contracts

separately with third party vendors who deal in such products and services to procure products and

services for its customers The Company bears significant risk as it exercises significant discretion

in establishing technical requirements and choosing equipment and as such recognizes revenues

and related costs on gross basis Hardware elements are separately procured and priced through

third party vendors who deal in such equipment Revenue is recognized upon delivery of the

product or service when it is not part of an integrated solution or as percentage of completion if it

is
part

of an integrated solution

Network and Consulting Services The Company offers traditional information technology and

network consulting and security assurance services under time and materials or on fixed fee

basis The Company also offers to its telecommunications customers telecommunications network

assessments contract negotiations information security consulting services and infrastructure

consulting services Revenue is recognized to the extent of billable rates times hours delivered plus

material and other reimbursable costs incurred to provide services Revenue is recognized on

certain contingency-based consulting arrangements to the extent expected savings are realized and

the customer signs-off on our value billing

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with authoritative guidance which requires that

deferred tax assets and liabilities be computed based on the difference between the financial statement and

income tax bases of assets and liabilities using the enacted marginal tax rate The guidance requires that

the net deferred tax asset be reduced by valuation allowance if based on the weight of available

evidence it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the net deferred tax asset will not be

realized The Company recognizes the impact of an uncertain tax position taken or expected to be taken

on an income tax return in the financial statements at the amount that is more likely than not to be

sustained upon audit by the relevant taxing authority An uncertain income tax position will not be

recognized in the financial statements unless it is more likely than not of being sustained upon audit by the

relevant taxing authority

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share EPS

Basic EPS includes no dilution and is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average

number of common shares outstanding for the period Diluted EPS includes the potential
dilution that

could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common and restricted stock were exercised or

converted into common and restricted stock The number of incremental shares from assumed

conversions of stock options stock warrants and unvested restricted stock awards included in the

calculation of diluted EPS was calculated using the treasury stock method See Note 13 to the

consolidated financial statements for computation of EPS
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Stock-Based Compensation

The Company previously adopted the provisions of ASC 718-10 Stock Compensation using the

modified prospective application transition method Under this method compensation cost for the portion

of awards for which the requisite
service has not yet been rendered that are outstanding as of the adoption

date is recognized over the remaining service period The compensation cost for that portion of awards is

based on the grant-date fair value of those awards as calculated for pro forma disclosures under ASC 718-

10 as originally issued All new awards that are modified repurchased or cancelled after the adoption

date are accounted for under provisions of ASC 718-10 The Company recognizes share-based

compensation ratably using the straight-line attribution method over the requisite service period In

addition pursuant to ASC 718-10 the Company is required to estimate the amount of expected forfeitures

when calculating share-based compensation instead of accounting for forfeitures as they occur which was

the Companys practice prior to the adoption of ASC 718-10 See Note 12 to the consolidated financial

statements

Non-Employee Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based non-employee compensation arrangements using the fair value

recognition provisions of ASC 505-50 Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employees formerly known as

FASB Statement 123 Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation and Emerging Issues Task Force EITF

96-18 Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring or in

Conjunction with Selling Goods or Services

Accounting Standards Updates

ASU Update No 2011-08 Intangibles Goodwill and Other This amendment allows an entity to

first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of

reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform

the two-step quantitative goodwill impairment test An entity has the option to bypass the qualitative

assessment for any reporting period and proceed to performing the first step of the two-step goodwill

impairment test and then subsequently resume performing qualitative assessment in any subsequent

period This amendment no longer permits carry forward of prior year quantitative
calculations of

reporting unit fair value The amendments are effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests

performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2011 Early adoption is permitted The Company

adopted this accounting standard update for fiscal year ended December 31 2012 and there were no

material impacts to the consolidated financial statements upon adoption

Business Combinations

On December 30 2011 the Company together with its wholly-owned subsidiary WidePoint Solutions

Corp WSC entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement APA with AGS pursuant to which WSC

acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of AGS The purchased assets include but are not

limited to customer contracts and relationships assembled workforce talent and expertise necessary to

manage the telecommunications and consulting operations and integral internally developed software

upon which managed services are delivered by AGS
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The results of operations for WSC have been included as of December 31 2011 acquisition date

Goodwill recorded in connection with this business combination was recorded within the Managed

Mobility Solutions segment Goodwill amortizable for tax purposes is approximately $4.9 million

The Company finalized its determination of fair value of purchase consideration and assets and

liabilities acquired and in accordance with GAAP adjusted its December 31 2011 balances reported for

cash receivables intangible assets goodwill accrued expenses and long term debt to reflect this final

basis of accounting as of the acquisition date

Cash consideration paid totaled $7.5 million and came from the use of $3.5 million in operating cash

on hand and use of $4.0 million bank loan proceeds Additional consideration of up to $4.0 million was

provided in the form of two seller financed promissory notes The first promissory bears stated face

value of $1.0 million and is not subject to contingent payment terms The second promissory note bears

stated face value of $3.0 million and is subject to contingent payment terms The Company revised its

provisional value of contingent consideration paid at December 31 2011 to reflect additional information

existing at the date of the AGS purchase that affected the payout probabilities used to calculate fair value

as well as additional net working capital adjustments finalized during fiscal 2012 The following table

sets forth final reconciliation of the provisional and final estimated fair value of consideration paid in

connection with the asset purchase agreement with AGS as of December 31 2011

Provisional Purchase Final Fair

Value Adjustments Value

Cashconsideratlonpakl 7500000 7500000

Non-continent subordinated seller financed

note payable consxleration 1000000 1000000

Contingent seller financed note payable

consxleration 3000000 850000 2150000

Net workmg capital escrow adjustnnt to

con leration paxi 76539 76539

Fair value of total consxleration lransfrred $11500000 926539 $10573461

There were no changes in the provisional values established for cash and senior debt consideration

paid in connection with this business combination

The contingent seller financed promissory note contingent obligation had provisional value of

$3.0 million at December 31 2011 During the year ended December 31 2012 the Company

finalized its fair value accounting and determined the estimated fair value to be approximately

$2.15 million as of December 31 2011 This resulted in reduction in the value of contingent

obligation of approximately $850000 thereby reducing goodwill in connection with this business

combination
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As required under the agreement portion of the cash proceeds were held in escrow until certain

transitional matters were completed by AGS There were networking capital deficiency

adjustments of approximately $76000 which reduced purchase consideration paid to AGS from

the escrow proceeds

The Company incurred approximately $120000 in transaction-related costs which were expensed as

incurred and reflected in general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations

for the year ended December 31 2011 In connection with this business combination the Company

entered into employment agreements with certain senior officers of AGS Also the Company did not

incur exit or termination charges in connection with this business acquisition

The following table sets forth final reconciliation of the provisional and final estimated fair value of

the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the AGS business combination as of December 31 2011

Fair value of identifiable assets acquired and

liabilities assunid

Current assets

Custonr relationships

Distribution chanrl

Tradenans and traIenrks

Covenant tt to compete

Internally developed software

Other assets

Current liabilities

Total identifiable net assets acquired

Goodwill

Total purchase price

32064 540000

70000 70000

630000 780000

Increase in fair value of identified intangible assets of approximately $807570 based on final

estimate of fair value of identified intangibles The Company estimated the fair value of finite

lived intangible assets acquired using discounted cash flow valuation techniques These estimates

of fair value included the use of Level and Level inputs

Increase in accrued expense to reflect an additional liability incurred as of the acquisition date

Decrease in goodwill reflects reduction in purchase consideration of approximately $850000

networking capital adjustment of approximately $76540 and increase in fair value of finite-lived

intangible assets partially offset by reductions in current assets as described in and above

Provisional

Value

Purchase

Adjustments

Final Fair

Value

3235413

2220364
125867
240364

572064

150000

3109546

1980000

1550000

17782

2762055

380000 1930000

17782

33150 2795205
4983568 648555 5632123

6516432 1575094 4941338

$11500000

Decrease in current assets reflects adjustments to cash due to timing differences and increased

allowances for doubtful accounts related to past due receivables

926539 $10573461
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In connection with the Companys adoption of ASU 2010-29 Disclosure of Supplementary Pro

Forma Information for Business Combinations the following unaudited pro forma consolidated

statements of operations for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 have been prepared as if the

acquisition of AGS had occurred at January 2011 unaudited

DECEMBER 31

2012 2011

Revenues net 55782742 49882694

Net Incon Loss 832301 705689

BasicEPS 0013 0011
DilutedEPS 0013 0011

The following footnotes explain the nonrecurring pro forma adjustments made to arrive at the

unaudited pro forma results presented above

Pro forma adjustments of $1160607 were charged against net income loss for the year ended

December 31 2011 to reflect increased intangible asset amortization recorded in connection with

the AGS business combination

Pro forma adjustments of $5417 were charged against net income loss for the year ended

December 31 2011 to reflect increased borrowings incurred to finance portion of the purchase

price for the AGS business combination

The pro forma adjustments above differ from those included in the Companys Form 8-K/A filing due

to subsequent changes in provisional intangible asset values The unaudited pro forma consolidated

statements of operations do not purport to be indicative of the results that would have been obtained if the

above acquisition had actually occurred as of the dates indicated or of those results that may be obtained

in the future These unaudited pro forma consolidated statements of operations were derived in part from

the historical consolidated financial statements of AGS and other available information and assumptions

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances

Fair Value Measurements

The consolidated financial statements include financial instruments for which the fair market value

may differ from amounts reflected on historical basis

Financial Liabilities Carried at Fair Value

The Company reports contingent seller financed promissory notes at fair value on the consolidated

balance sheets The Company assesses the estimated fair value of the contingent seller financed

promissory note contingent consideration using probability weighted income approach discounted

cash flow valuation technique When preparing discounted cash flow models under the income

approach the Company uses internal forecasts to estimate future cash flows The Companys internal

forecasts are developed using observable Level and unobservable Level inputs
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The Company uses the expected weighted average cost of capital estimated using capital asset

pricing model to discount future cash flows The Companys cost of equity estimate is developed using

combination of observable Level and unobservable Level inputs with appropriate adjustments that

take into consideration our risk profile and other factors deemed appropriate The Company believes the

discount rates used appropriately reflect the risks and uncertainties associated with the probability of

payout and market conditions generally and specifically in the Companys internally developed forecasts

Fair value is assessed on quarterly basis and any changes in estimated fair value are recorded as

non-operating change in fair value of contingent consideration in the consolidated statement of operations

Fluctuations in the fair value of contingent consideration are impacted by two unobservable inputs

managements estimate of the probability which are greater than 75% of the acquired company meeting

the operating performance target and the estimated discount rate rate that approximates the Companys

weighted average cost of capital Significant increases decreases in either of those inputs in isolation

would result in significantly higher lower fair value measurement Generally change in the

assumption used for the probability of meeting the performance target is accompanied by directionally

similar change in the fair value of contingent consideration liability whereas change in assumption used

for the estimated discount rate is accompanied by directionally opposite change in the fair value of

contingent consideration liability

The following table summarizes the Companys financial liabilities measured at fair value on

recurring basis categorized by GAAPs valuation hierarchy as described in Note at the end of each

reporting period presented below

Anxnmt Quoted Pres Sigmant

Recorded on inActive Other Signiant

Corok1ated Markets Observab Unobservab

BÆhze Idental Assets Inputs Inputs

SIets Level Level2 Level

LiabiIits as ofDecenther 31 2012

Contingent obhgathnl 1250000 1250000

Liabilasas ofDecetther3l 2011

ContlngentobbgatEnl 2150000 2150000
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Changes in the fair value measurement of contingent seller financed promissory note using significant

unobservable inputs classified as Level and valuation method used to estimate fair values are set forth

below as of and for the years ended

2012 2011

2150000BalarEe January

Total gains or losses lbr the perxd

Non-cash gain on change in lair value

of contingent obligation uxhided in

general aixi adnitnisiratwe expense 900000 --

Initial lair value of contmgent

consieration 2150000

BalarEe Decetther 31 1250000 2150000

For the year ended December 31 2012 the Company reassessed the fair value of its contingent

obligation and recorded non-cash gain fair value adjustment of approximately $0.9 million

The Company determined the fair value of its contingent obligation based on probability

weighted discounted cash flow valuation technique The potential payout of consideration for

the year ending 2013 is up to $1.5 million of face value of the contingent seller financed

promissory note

For the year ended December 31 2011 the Company recorded an initial fair value of

contingent consideration of approximately $2.15 million based on probability weighted

discounted cash flow valuation technique The potential payout of consideration for the year

ended 2012 was up to $1.5 million of face value of the contingent seller financed promissory

note

There were no transfers into or out of Level for the years ended December 31 2012 or 2011

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Carried at Other Than Fair Value

The Companys financial instruments include cash equivalents accounts receivable short and long-

term debt except for contingent promissory notes and other financial instruments associated with the

issuance of the common stock The carrying values of cash equivalents and accounts receivable

approximate their fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments and past evidence indicates

that these instruments settle for their carrying value The carrying amounts of the Companys bank

borrowings under its credit facility approximate fair value because the interest rates reflect current market

rates
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For the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 depreciation expense recorded was approximately

$400160 and $334700 respectively For the year ended December 31 2012 there were disposals of fully

depreciated equipment with gross historical cost and accumulated depreciation of approximately $206900

and $206200 respectively For the year ended December 31 2011 there were disposals of fully

depreciated equipment with gross historical cost and accumulated depreciation of approximately $69100

and $67000 respectively For the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 there were no material sales

of property and equipment

The gross value of assets under capital leases at December 31 2012 and 2011 was approximately

$477500 and $432000 respectively For the year ended December 31 2012 we entered into an

equipment capital lease agreement with net present value of approximately $176200 For the year

ended December 31 2012 there were disposals of certain expired equipment leases with gross value and

accumulated depreciation of approximately $130700 respectively For the years ended December 31

2011 there were disposals of certain equipment leases with gross value and accumulated depreciation of

approximately $8200 and $7700 respectively

Depreciation expense for leased equipment for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 was

approximately $66700 and $43000 respectively and accumulated depreciation at December 31 2012

and 2011 was $350200 and $414200 respectively Total net book value of assets under capital leases at

December 31 2012 and 2011 was approximately $127300 and $17800 respectively

Intangible Assets

The Company has material intangible assets consisting of purchased intangibles and internally

developed software used in the conduct of business The following table summarizes purchased and

internally developed intangible assets subject to amortization as follows

DECEMBER 31 2012

Weighted

Average

Gross Carrying
Accuninlated Net Book Anxrtrtn

Anunt Anrtrtn Value Period

Custonr Relatirnships 2890000 1005835 1884165

ChanuelRelatioishçs 540000 108000 432000

Teconminatuns Sofiware 2450000 700000 1750000

CybersecuntySofiware 669171 348344 320827

Trade Nan aixi Tradenrks 225000 22750 202250

Non-Conpete Agreennls 780000 400001 379999

7554171 2584930 4969241

For the year ended December 31 2012 there were disposals of fully amortized customer relationships

telecommunications software and cybersecurity software intangibles with gross historical cost and

accumulated amortization of approximately $1.1 million $0.5 million and $1.2 million respectively
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DECEMBER 31 2011

Weighted

Average

Gross Carrying Accuni.ilated Net Book Anilrtizatin

Aninint AnIrtitkn Vah Perid

CustonerRelatkrnships 4035523 1752191 2283332

ChamlRe1atihips 540000 540000

Teconiimiatirns Sollware 2450000 780796 1669204

Cybersccurity
Sofiware 2281718 1404277 877441

Trade Nan aixi Tradenrks 225000 145750 79250

Non-Conpete Agreenents 780000 780000

10312241 4083014 6229227

For the year ended December 31 2012 the Company did not complete any business combinations or

purchase intangible assets from third party During the year ended December 31 2012 the Company

completed its determination of the fair value of intangibles acquired in connection with business

combination increased the value of identified intangible assets from $4492428 to $5320000 as of

December 31 2011 and increased the useful lives of acquired intangibles from provisional estimates See

Note for additional information about the fair value adjustments recorded to intangible assets in

connection with this business combination

For the year ended December 31 2012 the Company recorded capitalized software costs related to

our Cybersecurity software totaling approximately $132000 For the year ended December 31 2011 the

Company recorded capitalized software costs totaling approximately $35 1000

The total weighted average life of purchased and internally developed intangible assets is

approximately 6.0 years and 4.0 years respectively at December 31 2012 and 2011 The following table

summarizes reflects estimated future amortization for purchased intangible assets for fiscal years ending

December 31

2013 1355974

2014 1120385

2015 737549

2016 691167

2017 569167

Thereafter 495000

Total 4969241

The aggregate amortization expense recorded was approximately $1392400 and $526300 for the

years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively
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Goodwill

The Companys goodwill recorded relates to the Managed Mobility Solutions and Cybersecurity

Solutions segments The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment annually as of December 31st and

between annual tests if events occur or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the

fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying value The Company has the option to first assess

qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of reporting unit is

less than its carrying amount as basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step

quantitative goodwill impairment test or bypass the qualitative assessment for any reporting period and

proceed to performing the first step of the two-step goodwill impairment test The Company elected to

bypass the qualitative assessment for the fiscal year ended December 31 2012

Goodwill impairment testing involves management judgment requiring an assessment of whether the

carrying value of the reporting unit can be supported by its fair value using widely accepted valuation

techniques The quantitative goodwill impairment test utilizes two-step approach The first step

identifies whether there is potential impairment by comparing the fair value of reporting unit to the

carrying amount including goodwill If the fair value of reporting unit is less than its carrying amount

the second step of the impairment test is required to measure the amount of any impairment loss

The Company uses combination of the income approach discounted cash flow method and market

approach market multiples When preparing discounted cash flow models under the income approach

the Company uses internal forecasts to estimate future cash flows expected to be generated by the

reporting units Our internal forecasts are developed using observable Level and unobservable Level

inputs Actual results may differ from forecasted results When preparing the market approach the

Company may adjust market multiples to reflect the Companys risk profile and other factors deemed

appropriate to properly apply the market approach

The Company uses the expected weighted average cost of capital estimated using capital asset

pricing model to discount future cash flows for each reporting unit Our cost of equity estimate is

developed using combination of observable Level and unobservable Level inputs with

appropriate adjustments that take into consideration our risk profile and other factors deemed appropriate

The Company believes the discount rates used appropriately reflect the risks and uncertainties in the

financial markets generally and specifically in the Companys internally developed forecasts Further to

assess the reasonableness of the valuations derived from the discounted cash flow models the Company

also analyzes market-based multiples for similar industries of the reporting unit where available

As of December 31 2012 and 2011 goodwill was not impaired and there were no accumulated

impairment losses
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The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill were as follows for the years ended

DECEMBER 31

2012 2011

Beginning balarEes January 16618467 11329917

Additions

Additional earnout purchase consideration in connection

with iSYS Menthership Inirest Putthase Agreetrent dated

dated January 2008 500212

Acquisition of Avalon Global Solutions 4941338

Reductions

Purchase adjustirent related to Vuanee earn-out

liability reduction ______________ 153000

Ending baJarxes Decener 31 16618467 16618467

The Membership Interest Purchase Agreement the Membership Agreement between the

Company iSYS LLC and Jin Kang dated January 2008 contained 3-year earnout provision for

up to $6.0 million of additional consideration payable half in cash and common stock Under the

terms of the Membership Agreement the earnout was measured annually between 2008 and 2011 and

awarded within 30 days following the end of the Companys fiscal year and filing of the Companys

Form 10-K for that year Fiscal 2011 was the last year of the eamout and the Company recognized

additional purchase consideration of $500212 of which the Company issued common stock and

recorded liability of $204229 and $295983 respectively For the years ended December 31 2012

and 2011 the Company paid additional cash consideration of $295983 and $445740 respectively

The Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement APA with Avalon Global Solutions

Inc AGS on December 30 2011 and recorded goodwill as described in Note to the consolidated

financial statements

There was no additional consideration paid in fiscal years 2011 or 2012 as ARCC did not meet its

minimum qualified revenues of at least $4000000 per year As such the Company reversed the

contingent consideration liability of $153000 previously recorded on the consolidated balance sheets

under the caption fair value earnout liability during fiscal 2010

Line of Credit and Long Term Debt

Commercial Loan Agreement Facility

On August 26 2010 the Company entered into new Debt Modification Agreement with Cardinal

Bank the 2010 Debt Modification Agreement to replace the 2009 Commercial Loan Agreement and to

extend the repayment date of the Companys revolving credit facility with Cardinal Bank from September

2010 to September 30 2011 Under this modification there were no changes in the amounts available

under the credit facility
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On December 30 2011 the Company entered into new Commercial Loan Agreement collectively

referred to as the Cardinal Loans to obtain $4.0 million term loan the $4.0 Million Term Loan and

to increase the revolving line of credit for net working capital from $5.0 million to $8.0 million the $8.0

Million Revolver

On December 21 2012 the Company entered into First Modification to Cardinal Loans that

extended the repayment date of the revolving credit facility from June 30 2013 to June 30 2014 ii

modified our target net worth requirement from $5.5 million to $4.0 million as of December 31 2012 and

revised target net worth requirement from $5.5 million to $4.5 million as of December 31 2013

representing reduction from the prior-existing $5.5 million target and iiieliminated the Funded Debt

to EBITDA covenant

Advances made under the $4.0 Million Term Loan bear interest at 4.5% with monthly principal and

interest payments of $74694 and matures on December 30 2016 Term loan advances were used to fund

portion of the purchase consideration paid in connection with the AGS business combination that closed

on December31 2011

Advances made under the $8.0 Million Revolver bear interest at variable rate equal to the prime rate

plus 0.5% and matures on June 30 2013 There were advances and repayment against the $8.0 Million

Revolver totaling approximately $3031000 respectively for the year ended December 31 2012 The

commercial revolving line of credit capacity is based on eligible government and commercial accounts

receivable including unbilled accounts receivable which are defined as customer balances aged less than

90 days

Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following
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DECEMBER31

Cardinal Bank TennNote Dated January 220081
Cardinal Bank Mortgage Dated Decenther 17 2010

Cardinal Bank Term Note Dated Deceither 31 20113

Contingent Obligation Subordinated Seller Financed

Promissory Note Dated Decenther 31 20114

Non-Contingent Obligation Subordinated Selr Financed

Promissory Note Dated Decener 31 20115 _______________ _______________

Total

Less current portion _____________ _____________

Long-term debt net of current portion __________ __________

On January 2008 the Company entered into $2 million four-year term note with Cardinal

Bank to fund the unpaid portion of the iSYS purchase price The term note bore interest at 7.5% with

monthly principal and interest payments of approximately $48000 and matured on January 2012

The term note was secured under corporate security agreement This term note was repaid on

January 2012

On December 17 2010 the Company entered into real estate purchase agreement to acquire

iSYSs call center facility in Columbus Ohio for approximately $677000 In connection with the real

estate purchase agreement the Company entered into $528000 ten-year mortgage with Cardinal

Bank to fund the unpaid portion of the purchase price The mortgage loan bears interest at 6.0% with

monthly principal and interest payments of approximately $3800 and matures on December 17 2020

The mortgage loan principal and interest payments are based on twenty-year amortization with the

unpaid balance due at maturity The mortgage loan is secured by the real estate

On December 31 2011 the Company entered into $4 million 5-year term note with Cardinal

Bank to fund portion of the purchase price paid in connection with the asset purchase agreement with

Avalon Global Solutions Inc dated December 30 2011 The term note bears interest at 4.50% with

monthly principal and interest payments of approximately $74694 and matures on December 30

2016 The term note is secured under corporate security agreement

On December 31 2011 the Company entered into subordinated 3-year term contingent

promissory note contingent obligation with face value of $3.0 million with Avalon Global

Solutions Inc AGS to fund portion of the purchase price paid in connection with the asset

purchase agreement dated December 30 2011 The Company carries this contingent obligation at fair

value on the consolidated balance sheet and reported provisional value of $3.0 million at December

31 2011 which was subsequently adjusted to fair value of $2.15 million see Note for additional

information on the nature of adjustments to provisional amounts AGS can earn up to $1.5 million in

20112012

499938

3271535

1250000

1000000

6021473

1102741

4918732

50909

515553

4001000

2150000

1000000

7717462

798319

6919143
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fiscal 2012 and 2013 with the attainment of Adjusted Gross Profit AGP of $5428000 in 2012 and

$6752000 in 2013 AGP floor and ceiling targets were not meet in fiscal 2012 which entitled the

Company to reduce the face value of the contingent obligation by $1.5 million The Company

estimated fair value of this contingent obligation and subsequent changes in fair value at

approximately $1.25 million at December 31 2012 as described in Note This contingent obligation

bears interest at 3.0% with fair value of estimated remaining contingent annual principal payments

of approximately $625000 and $625000 in 2014 and 2015 respectively and matures on April 15

2015 This contingent obligation is subordinated to the senior bank financing

On December 31 2011 the Company entered into $1 million subordinated 3-year term non

contingent promissory note term note or non-contingent obligation with Avalon Global

Solutions Inc to fund portion of the purchase price paid in connection with the asset purchase

agreement with Avalon Global Solutions Inc dated December 30 2011 The term note bears interest

at 3.0% with estimated annual principal payments of $323530 $333236 and $343233 in 2013 2014

and 2015 respectively and matures on April 15 2015 The term notes are subordinated to the senior

bank financing
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Future repayments on long-term debt are as follows for fiscal years ending December 31

2013 1102741

2014 1773494

2015 1821209

2016 893773

2017 20186

Thereafter 410070

Total 6021473

Debt Covenant Compliance

The Cardinal Loans require the Company to maintain certain financial covenants including

maintaining debt service ratio of at least 1.21.0 iii tangible net worth of at least $4.0 million at

December 31 2012 then increasing to $4.5 million at December 31 2013 and iv current ratio of at

least 1.11.0 As of December 31 2012 the Company was in full compliance with these financial

covenants

Capital Lease Obligations

The Company has leased certain equipment under capital lease arrangements which expire in 2016

For the year ended December 31 2012 the Company entered into an equipment capital lease agreement

with net present value of approximately $176200 For the year ended December 31 2012 there were

disposals of certain expired equipment leases with gross value and accumulated depreciation of

approximately $130700 respectively The following sets forth the Companys future obligations under

capital lease agreement for fiscal years ending December 31

2013 52564

2014 51464

2015 51364

2016 8561

Thereafter
_________________

Total 163953

Less portion representing interest 18831

Present value of mininun lease paynnts

under capital lease agreennts 145122

Less current portion 42878

Capital lease obligations net of current portion 102244

Amounts payable under capital lease arrangements was $23579 for fiscal year 2011 of which $671

represents interest
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10 Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740 Income Taxes formerly

known as SFAS No 109 Accounting for Income Taxes Under ASC 740 deferred tax assets and

liabilities are computed based on the difference between the financial statement and income tax bases of

assets and liabilities using the enacted marginal tax rate The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is

dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary

differences become deductible Based upon the realization of our recent historical profitability and our

outlook for the continued positive prospects for these profits to continue in the future management

believes these net deferred tax assets will be utilized in future periods In assessing the ability to realize

deferred tax assets management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the

deferred tax assets will be realized ASC 740 requires that the net deferred tax asset be reduced by

valuation allowance if based on the weight of available evidence it is more likely than not that some

portion or all of the net deferred tax asset will not be realized

As of December 31 2012 the Company had gross net operating loss NOL carry forwards of

approximately $19.8 million available to offset future taxable income for federal income tax purposes net

of the potential limitation discussed below These federal NOL carry forwards expire between 2017 and

2032 The Company had gross state NOL carry forwards of approximately $12.1 million available to

offset future taxable income for state income tax purposes These state NOL carry forwards expire

between 2020 and 2032

Under the provision of the U.S Tax Reform Act of 1986 change in an entitys ownership of

50 percent or greater may limit utilization of federal net operating loss carry forwards The Company had

series of historical equity transactions that resulted in change in control The Companys net operating

losses will be subject to such limitations and may not be available to offset future income for tax purposes

Utilization of the NOL carryforwards will be subject to an annual limitation under Section 382 of the

Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and similar state provisions due to ownership change limitations that have

occurred In general an ownership change as defined by Section 382 results from transactions increasing

ownership of certain stockholders or public groups in the stock of the corporation by more than 50

percentage points over three-year period An analysis was performed which indicated that multiple

ownership changes have occurred in previous years which created annual limitations on our ability to

utilize NOL and tax credit carryovers Such limitations will result in approximately $4.9 million reduction

in gross NOL carry forwards available to offset future taxable income for federal income tax purposes

No tax benefit has been associated with the exercise of stock options for the years ended December 31

2012 or 2011 respectively because of the existence of net operating loss carryforwards There will be no

credit to additional paid in capital for such until the associated benefit is realized through reduction of

income taxes payable The tax benefit associated with the exercise of stock options included in NOLs

that will be credited to additional paid-in capital
when the NOLs are used to reduce taxes currently

payable is approximately $923000

The Company recognizes the financial statement benefit of tax position only after determining that

the relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the position following an audit For tax

positions meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold the amount recognized in the financial statements is

the largest
benefit that has greater

than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement

with the relevant tax authority As of December 31 2012 the Company had no unrecognized tax benefits
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While the Company does not have any material interest and penalties in the periods presented the

Companys policy is to recognize such expenses as tax expense

The Company files U.S federal income tax returns with the Internal Revenue Service IRS as well

as income tax returns in various states The Company may be subject to examination by the IRS for tax

years 2003 through 2012 Additionally the Company may be subject to examinations by various state

taxing jurisdictions for tax years 2003 through 20 As of December 20 the Company is currently

not under examination by the IRS or any state tax jurisdiction The Company was subject to an

examination by the Illinois Department of Revenue for the tax periods 2007 and 2008 that resulted in

reduction of the sales apportionment factors reported on the returns which did not materially affect net

operating loss deductions in Illinois The examination was finalized during the second quarter of 2012

Provision for income taxes is as follows for the years ended

DECEMBER 31

2012 2011

Current provisxn benefit

Federal 20269
State 17863 30272

Total 17863 10 003

De1rred provision benefit

Federal 33748 167327
State 48075 41 722

Total 81823 209 049

Income tax provision benefit 99686 199046

The provision benefit for income taxes results in effective rates which differs from the federal and

state statutory rate as follows for the years ended

DECEMBER 31

2012 2011

Statutory frderal income tax rate 340% 340%
State nore tax rate net of 1dera1beneflt 1% 75 6%
Non-deductible expenses 1% -383%

Change in valuatEn allowance -39% -1089%

Expiration of net operating losses 00% 1220%

Adjuslnnts to state net operating losses -78% -213 8%

Adjuslnnts to prior year deirred tax assets 5% -2327%

Change in fur value of contingent consideration -445% 00%
Return to accrual difference true-ups -O 1% -48 9%
Other 00% -117%

Combined e1ctive tax rate -126% -4227%
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The deferred tax assets liabilities consisted of the following

DECEMBER 31

2012 2011

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryfbrwards 4818357 4430285

Alternative minimumtax credit 45650 73241

Share-based conçensation 509043 579352

Advanced payments 18738

IntangIbles 195535 136538

Depreciation 54222

Other assets 156617 143176

Total deferred tax assets 5779424 5381330

Less valuation ailowance 849654 880384
Total deferred tax assets net 4929770 4500946

Deferred tax liabilities

Goodwill aimrtization 1106326 748291

Capitahzad software costs 3066 14100

Total deferred tax liabilities 1109392 762391

Net deferred tax asset liability 3820378 3738555

Changes in the valuation allowance for the years ended were as follows

DECEMBER 31

2012 2011

Begiiuinig balance 880384 931666
Decreases Increases 30730 51282

Ending balance 849654 880384

11 Stockholders Equity

Common Shares

The Company is authorized to issue 110000000 shares of common stock $.00l par value per share

As of December 31 2012 there were 63751857 shares of common stock outstanding For the year ended

December 31 2012 the Company issued 525000 common shares in connection with stock option

exercises See Note 12 for additional information regarding stock option plans For the year ended

December 31 2011 the Company issued 295984 common shares in connection with amounts earned as

part of an earnout agreement pursuant to the Membership Agreement Fiscal year 2012 was the last year

of the iSYS earnout See Note for additional information regarding iSYS LLC earnout consideration

recorded
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Executive Restricted Stock Awards

On November 18 2010 the Companys Compensation Committee granted Steve Komar and James

McCubbin each an award of 250000 shares of restricted stock of the Company Each of the foregoing

awards of restricted stock vest upon the earlier to occur of the seventh anniversary date of the grant or

an acceleration event as determined on the date of grant by the Compensation Committee and set forth

in the award agreement with respect to such grant Acceleration events include change of control

termination by the Company without Cause as defined in the applicable award agreement or by the

individual for Good Reason as defined in the applicable award agreement non-renewal of the

employment contract for the respective individual on substantially similar terms death or disability of the

individual as the Companys achievement of certain levels of revenue and the Companys achievement

of certain earnings before interest taxes amortization targets

12 Stock Options and Award Programs

The Companys stock incentive plan is administered by the Compensation Committee and authorizes

the grant or award of incentive stock options non-qualified stock options restricted stock awards stock

appreciation rights dividend equivalent rights performance unit awards and phantom shares The

Company issues new shares of common stock upon the exercise of stock options Any shares associated

with forfeited options are added back to the number of shares that underlie stock options to be granted

under the stock incentive plan

The Company adopted the 2008 Stock Incentive Plan the 2008 Plan on December 18 2008 The

2008 Plan was enacted to provide incentive to officers and key employees of the Company and its

affiliates to stimulate their efforts toward the continued success of the Company and to operate and

manage the business in manner that will provide for the long-term growth and profitability of the

Company encourage stock ownership by directors officers and key employees by providing them

with means to acquire proprietary interest in the Company acquire shares of the Companys common

stock or to receive compensation which is based upon appreciation in the value of the Companys

common stock and provide means of obtaining rewarding and retaining key personnel and

consultants

Under the 2008 Plan 6578049 shares were reserved for issuance under equity incentive awards to be

issued pursuant to the 2008 Plan The 2008 Plan was amended and restated on December 15 2009 The

2008 Plan will terminate on December 17 2017

The following table sets forth options available for possible grant under the 2008 Plan for each of the

years ended December 31
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2012 2011

Optxns Avallabla lbr grant uixier plan January 6578049 6578049

Less Options granted uixler plan

Options outstarKiing aix exercab January 2522000 2610747

Granted 400000 250000

Caixelled 25000 235000

Foited

Exercised 525000 240000

Options outstaixling aix exercisab Decener 31 2372000 2385747

Options Availabla Jbr grant uixler plan December 31 4206049 4192302

1997 Directors Formula Stock Option Plan

Under the 1997 Directors Formula Stock Option Plan the 1997 Director Plan as amended 120

thousand shares were reserved for issuance under the plan The 1997 Director Plan provided for option

grants to purchase 12000 shares of common stock upon non-employee directors initial appointment to

the Board of Directors Options granted under the Director Plan vest immediately to 8000 shares of

common stock underlying such options vest to an additional 2000 shares after the directors completion

of the first year of continued service to the Company and vest to the remaining 2000 shares after the

completion of the second year of continued service to the Company

Each option granted pursuant to the Director Plan was evidenced by an agreement and is subject to

additional terms as set forth in the agreement Options become exercisable when vested and expire

ten years after the date of grant subject to any shorter period that may be provided in the agreement

Stock Option Plan Activity

summary of the stock option and restricted stock award activity under the Companys stock plans

during the years ended December 31 is presented below for non-vested options

Weighted Weighted

Average Grant Average

of Date Fair Value Remaining

NON-VESTED OPTIONS Shares per Share Opion Life

Non-vested baxEes January 2011 976253 $0.43

Granted 250000 $1.08

Vested 151253 $0.13

Forited 235000 $0.38

Non-vested bainxes December 31 2011 840000 $0.70 2.69

Granted 400000 $0.43

Vested 340000 $0.64

Foriºited $0.00

Non-vested bances December 31 2012 900000 $0.60 3.58
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summary of the stock option and restricted stock award activity under the Companys stock plans

during the years ended December 31 is presented below for options outstanding and exercisable

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

of Exercise IMce Remaining

OUTSTANDING AND EXERCISABLE Shares per Share Option Life

Options outstanding January 12011 3587000 $0.62

Issued 250000 $1.30

Canceled 235000 $0.83

Expired $0.00

Exercised 240000 $0.88

Options outstanding Deceither 31 2011 3362000 $0.64 3.06

Options outstanding and exercisable

Deceither 31 2011 2522000 $0.50 2.31

Issued 400000 $0.69

Canceled 25000 $0.54

Exercised 525000 $0.08

Options outstanding Deceither 31 2012 3212000 $0.74 2.70

Options outstanding and exercisable

Decenier 31 2012 2312000 $0.67 1.91

Aggregate intrinsic value represents total pretax intrinsic value the difference between WidePoints

closing stock price on December 31 2012 and the exercise price multiplied by the number of in-the-

money options that would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their

options on December 31 2012 The intrinsic value will change based on the fair market value of

WidePoints stock The total intrinsic value of options outstanding as of December 31 2012 and 2011

were approximately $18000 and $594000 respectively The total intrinsic value of options exercisable

on December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively were approximately $18000 and $594000 The total

intrinsic value of options exercised were $305250 and $92600 during the year ended December 31 2012

and 2011 respectively

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using Black-Scholes option

pricing model Black-Scholes model which uses the assumptions of no dividend yield risk free

interest rates and expected life in years of approximately years The option awards are for the period

from 1999 through 2012 Expected volatilities are based on the historical volatility of our common stock

The expected term of options granted is based on analyses of historical employee termination rates and

option exercises The risk-free interest rates are based on the U.S Treasury yield for period consistent

with the expected term of the option in effect at the time of the grant Significant option model

assumptions were as follows for options entered into during the years ended
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DECEMBER 31

2012 2011

Expected dividend yield
0% 0%

Expected volatility 74% 102%

Risk-free interest rate 0.38-0.40% 0.40-2.38%

Expected life Employees options years years

Expected life Board of directors options
n/a n/a

The amount of compensation expense recognized under ASC 18-10 under the Companys plans was

comprised of the following during the years ended

DECEMBER 31

2012 2011

Generalaixi administrative expense 217611 157459

Share-based conensationbeflre taxes 217611 157459

Tot net share-based compensation expense 217611 157459

Net share-based compensation expenses

per basi and diluted comnini share nil nil

No tax benefit has been associated with the exercise of stock options for the years ended December 31

2012 and 2011 respectively because of the existence of net operating loss carryforwards There will be

no credit to additional paid in capital for such until the associated benefit is realized through reduction of

income taxes payable

At December 31 2012 the Company had approximately $344500 of total unamortized compensation

expense net of estimated forfeitures related to stock option plans that will be recognized over the

weighted average period of 3.6 years At December 31 2011 the Company had approximately $302900

of total unamortized compensation expense net of estimated forfeitures related to stock option plans that

will be recognized over the weighted average period of 2.7 years
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13 Earnings Per Common Share EPS

The computations of basic and diluted EPS for the years ended were as follows

Basic EPS Computation

Net æone
Weighted average number ofcomnirn shares

Bask EPS

Basic EPS Computation

Net incon

Weighted average number of coninxrn shares

Increnental shares fromassund conversrns

of stock optkrns

Adjusted weighted average number of comnxrn shares

DECEMBER 31

14 Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Lease Commitments

Total 282000 156000 82600 1355400

2012

832301

2011

63474871

246866

0.013

62882100

0.004

2012

832301

2011

246866

63474871

Diluted EPS

62882100

283761

63.758.632

1266231

0.013

64.148331

0.004

The Company has entered into property and equipment leasing arrangements that expire at various

times through April 2017 with optional renewal periods Lease payments range from $1000 to $27000

per month and may require additional rent to cover proportionate share of taxes maintenance insurance

and other shared expenses Rents are generally increased annually by fixed amounts subject to certain

maximum amounts defined within individual agreements Rent expenses under these operating leases for

the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 were approximately $808000 and $386000 respectively

Future minimum payments by year excluding related party leases required under lease obligations

consist of the following for fiscal years ending December 31

Less

Property EquipnEnt Property Net Lease

Leases Leases Subbase Total

2013 735000 51000

2014 371000 41000

2015 129000 30000

2016 47000 24000

2017 10000

Thereafter

23600 762400

23600 388400

23600 135400

11800 59200

10000
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Employment Agreements

The Company has employment agreements with certain executives that set forth compensation levels

and provide for severance payments in certain instances

Litigation

The Company is not involved in any material legal proceedings

15 Segment Reporting

Segments are defined by authoritative guidance as components of company in which separate

financial information is available and is evaluated by the chief operating decision maker or decision

making group in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance Management

evaluates segment performance primarily based on revenue and segment operating income The Company

operates as three segments which includes Managed Mobility Solutions Cybersecurity Solutions and

Consulting and Support Services See Note for description of services and revenue recognition

policies for each segment

Segment operating income consists of the revenues generated by segment less the direct costs of

revenue and selling general and administrative costs that are incurred directly by the segment

Unallocated corporate costs include costs related to administrative functions that are performed in

centralized manner that are not attributable to particular segment These administrative function costs

include costs for corporate office support all office facility costs costs relating to accounting and finance

human resources legal marketing information technology and company-wide business development

functions as well as costs related to overall corporate management

Segment operating income consists of the revenues generated by segment less the direct costs of

revenue and selling general and administrative costs that are incurred directly by the segment

Unallocated corporate costs include costs related to administrative functions that are performed in

centralized manner that are not attributable to particular segment The Companys management does not

analyze assets for decision making purposes as it relates to the segments below Accordingly information

is not available for long-lived assets or total assets

During 2012 we initiated management reorganization that focused on repositioning key

management resources and strategic offerings into one segment rather than multiple segments In 2013

we will continue implementing this reorganization plan and will be managing and reporting our operations

as singular segment in the future

The following table sets forth selected segment and consolidated operating results and other operating

data for the periods indicated before completion of functionalization
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For the Year Fixied Decenther 31 2012

Managed Consulting Corporate

Mobility Cyber aixi Support Adniæstrative

Solutinis Security Serves Seies Total

Revenues

Iueoiue bss from operatins

Net interest ixon expense

Net other on expense

Net ione beibre provisinn

lbr æonrtaxes

Net iueonr tax beuelit

Net incone 2831710 654758 112516

$55782742

1018777

289363

____________
3200

2866370 732614

99687 99687

2766683 832301

Revenues

Jixone bss from operations

Net interest incone expense

Net other æonexpense

Net incoim beibre provision

flr incozue taxes

Net incone tax beueflt

Net incone

FortheYearEixledDecenier 31 2011

Managed Consulting Corporate

Mobility Cyber arxl Support Adniislrative

Solutinns Security Servies Serves Total

$41372490

105173

56745

_____________
608

$31800589 6891791 $17090362

2831710 654758 112516

2831710 654758 112516

2580207

289363

3200

$23813476

2056335

2056335

$11043873

612050

6515141

1105622

1105622

2444734

56745

608

2056335 1105622 612050

612050 2502087

199046

2303041

47820

199046

246866

F-40



Exhibit 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF WIDEPOINT CORPORATION

State of

Incorporation

Entity Name

WidePoint NBIL Inc Illinois

WidePoint IL Inc Illinois

Operational Research Consultants Inc Virginia

iSYS LLC Virginia

Protexx Technology Corporation Delaware

Advanced Response Concepts Corporation Delaware

WidePoint Ohio Real Estate Corp Ohio

WidePoint Solutions Corp Delaware



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the previously filed registration statements of

WidePoint Corporation on Forms S-8 File Nos 333-124867 and 333-158772 of our report dated March

30 2013 relating to the consolidated financial statements of WidePoint Corporation included in this

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2012

/5/ Moss Adams LLP

Moss Adams LLP

Scottsdale Arizona

March 30 2013



Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and Rule 13a-14a

or l5d-14a under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Steve Komar certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of WidePoint Corporation

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material

fact or omit to state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the

circumstances under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to

the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information

included in this report fairly present in all material respects the financial condition

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented

in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and

maintaining disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15e and Sd- 15e and internal control over financial reporting as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15O for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure

controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that

material information relating to the registrant including its consolidated

subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly

during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal

control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures

and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this

report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants
internal control over

financial reporting that occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter

that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the

registrants internal control over financial reporting and



The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent

evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the

audit committee of the registrants board of directors or persons performing the

equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of

internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the registrants ability to record process summarize and report financial

information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees

who have significant role in the registrants internal control over financial

reporting

Date March 30 2013 By /5/ STEVE KOMAR

Steve Komar

Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and Rule 13a-14a

or 15d-14a under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

James McCubbin certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of WidePoint Corporation

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material

fact or omit to state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the

circumstances under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to

the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information

included in this report fairly present in all material respects the financial condition

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented

in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and

maintaining disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a-

15e and 15d-15e and internal control over financial reporting as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 3a- 15f and 5d- 15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure

controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that

material information relating to the registrant including its consolidated

subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly

during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal

control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures

and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this

report
based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants
internal control over

financial reporting that occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter

that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the

registrants internal control over financial reporting and



The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent

evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the

audit committee of the registrants board of directors or persons performing the

equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of

internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the registrants ability to record process summarize and report financial

information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees

who have significant role in the registrants internal control over financial

reporting

Date March 30 2013 By /s/ JAMES MCCUBBN

James McCubbin

Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32

Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C 1350

Solely for the purposes of complying with 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 we the undersigned Chief Executive Officer

and Chief Financial Officer of WidePoint Corporation the Company hereby certify based on

our knowledge that the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended

December 31 2012 the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in the Report fairly presents in

all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Company

Is STEVE KOMAR
Steve Komar

Chief Executive Officer

Is JAMES MCCUBBIN
James McCubbin

Chief Financial Officer

Date March 30 2013



widepoint

November 2013

Dear Fellow Stockholder

The 2012 year and our ongoing efforts through 2013 have been periods of transition and change for

WidePoint Late in 2011 the Company began to lay the groundwork to strategically expand its business

platform beyond our highly concentrated traditional federal government marketplace We believed that our

expansion into the commercial and state local municipality marketplaces would broaden our customer

base and allow us to better leverage our proven expertise and solutions sets key part of this strategy

involved the future repositioning of our offerings with focus on integrated Enterprise-level solutions

featuring our capabilities in mobile telecommunications and identity assurance all delivered in cloud-

based managed services environment with wrap-around strategic and technical consultative support

During 2012 we made significant strides in achieving our goal to broaden our customer base The

acquisition of Avalon Global Solutions added an existing commercial market customer base and expanded

our product set We also expanded our reach into the state local marketplace with additional wins with

the Western States Contracting Alliance and other municipal marketplace awards Our identity

management solutions also added successes tied to the continued expansion of the TSAs transportation

workers credentialing program and the increasing rate of adoption of mandated federal requirements for

securing the Nations federal information technology infrastructure

Weve also continued to broaden and expand our product sets and service offerings An enhanced Audit

capability and wireline managed service have been added to our telecommunications suite and mobile

device-based secured credential developed for the US military More recently we have initiated

management reorganization to better support our convergence/unification efforts whose goal is the delivery

of an Enterprise suite of Managed Mobility Solutions to selected vertical markets

In looking forward we believe these efforts have put in place the building blocks that will provide greater

market and customer reach accelerate direct selling and channel reselling and yield an efficient

technological infrastructure all while providing us with an integrated business platform that will provide

strong base for growth into the foreseeable future

We thank all of you for your support and continued commitment as we look forward to growing and

evolving WidePoint into best in class enterprise supporting all of our stakeholders

Sincerely

g4
Steve Komar

Chairman of the Board President and

Chief Executive Officer


